A logo with green text

Description automatically generated

EVERGREEN LIFE CARE LTD

ENTERPRISE AGREEMENT 2024 - 2027

**Table of Contents**

[CLAUSE 1 – MAKING OF THIS AGREEMENT 4](#_Toc182488018)

[CLAUSE 2 - TITLE 4](#_Toc182488019)

[CLAUSE 3 – PARTIES BOUND 4](#_Toc182488020)

[CLAUSE 4 – COMMENCEMENT AND DURATION 4](#_Toc182488021)

[CLAUSE 5 – COMPLETE AGREEMENT 4](#_Toc182488022)

[CLAUSE 6 – AGREEMENT FLEXIBILITY 5](#_Toc182488023)

[CLAUSE 7 – NATIONAL EMPLOYMENT STANDARDS (NES) 6](#_Toc182488024)

[CLAUSE 8 - DEFINITIONS 6](#_Toc182488025)

[CLAUSE 9 – NO EXTRA CLAIMS 8](#_Toc182488026)

[CLAUSE 10 – RELATIONSHIP TO POLICIES AND PROCEDURES 8](#_Toc182488027)

[CLAUSE 11 – ACCESS TO AGREEMENT AND THE NES 8](#_Toc182488028)

[CLAUSE 12 – NATIONAL CRIMINAL HISTORY CHECK 9](#_Toc182488029)

[CLAUSE 13 – EMPLOYEE ENGAGEMENT 9](#_Toc182488030)

[CLAUSE 14 - CLASSIFICATION 13](#_Toc182488031)

[CLAUSE 15 – ARRANGEMENT OF HOURS 15](#_Toc182488032)

[CLAUSE 16 - ROSTERS 18](#_Toc182488033)

[CLAUSE 17 - OVERTIME 20](#_Toc182488034)

[CLAUSE 18 – SHIFT AND WEEKEND WORK 23](#_Toc182488035)

[CLAUSE 19 - BROKEN SHIFTS 24](#_Toc182488036)

[CLAUSE 20 – PUBLIC HOLIDAYS 25](#_Toc182488037)

[CLAUSE 21 – BREAKS 27](#_Toc182488038)

[CLAUSE 22 – MANDATORY MEETINGS AND TRAINING 28](#_Toc182488039)

[CLAUSE 23 – PAY AND PAYMENT 29](#_Toc182488040)

[CLAUSE 24 – ALLOWANCES 31](#_Toc182488041)

[CLAUSE 25 – HIGHER DUTIES 34](#_Toc182488042)

[CLAUSE 26 – SUPERANNUATION 34](#_Toc182488043)

[CLAUSE 27 – SALARY PACKAGING 35](#_Toc182488044)

[CLAUSE 28 – TRAINING 36](#_Toc182488045)

[CLAUSE 29 – TRAINING RECORD 38](#_Toc182488046)

[CLAUSE 30 – CAREER DEVELOPMENT 38](#_Toc182488047)

[CLAUSE 31 – ANNUAL LEAVE 39](#_Toc182488048)

[CLAUSE 32 – LONG SERVICE LEAVE 42](#_Toc182488049)

[CLAUSE 33 – PERSONAL/CARER’S AND COMPASSIONATE LEAVE 44](#_Toc182488050)

[CLAUSE 34 – FAMILY AND DOMESTIC VIOLENCE LEAVE 46](#_Toc182488051)

[CLAUSE 35 – COMPASSIONATE LEAVE 46](#_Toc182488052)

[CLAUSE 36 – NATURAL DISASTER LEAVE 48](#_Toc182488053)

[CLAUSE 37 – EMPLOYER PAID PARENTAL LEAVE 48](#_Toc182488054)

[CLAUSE 38 – COMMUNITY SERVICE LEAVE 49](#_Toc182488055)

[CLAUSE 39 – CEREMONIAL LEAVE 50](#_Toc182488056)

[CLAUSE 40 – EDUCATION LEAVE 50](#_Toc182488057)

[CLAUSE 41 – LEAVE WITHOUT PAY 50](#_Toc182488058)

[CLAUSE 42 – REPATRIATION LEAVE 51](#_Toc182488059)

[CLAUSE 43 – CONSULTATION AND CHANGE 51](#_Toc182488060)

[CLAUSE 44 – REQUEST FOR FLEXIBLE WORKING ARRANGEMENTS 54](#_Toc182488061)

[CLAUSE 45 – WORKLOAD MANAGEMENT 55](#_Toc182488062)

[CLAUSE 46 – UNION NOTICE BOARD 56](#_Toc182488063)

[CLAUSE 47 – UNION REPRESENTATIVE LEAVE 56](#_Toc182488064)

[CLAUSE 48 – BULLYING AND HARASSMENT 56](#_Toc182488065)

[CLAUSE 49 – DISCIPLINARY MATTERS 56](#_Toc182488066)

[CLAUSE 50 – DISPUTE RESOLUTION PROCEDURE 57](#_Toc182488067)

[CLAUSE 51 – TERMINATION OF EMPLOYMENT 58](#_Toc182488068)

[CLAUSE 52 - REDUNDANCY 60](#_Toc182488069)

[SCHEDULE A – EMPLOYMENT CLASSIFICATIONS 62](#_Toc182488070)

[SCHEDULE B – PAY RATES AND ALLOWANCES 78](#_Toc182488071)

[TABLE 1 – Rates of Pay 78](#_Toc182488072)

[TABLE 2 – Allowances 80](#_Toc182488073)

# CLAUSE 1 – MAKING OF THIS AGREEMENT

* 1. This Agreement is made under Section 172 of the Fair Work Act 2009 (“the Act”).
  2. The Employer will take the necessary steps to seek approval of this Agreement under Section 186 of the Act.
  3. This Agreement contains notes and examples in text boxes to explain the meaning of some clauses. These notes and examples do not create obligations or entitlements. They are included to assist in the interpretation of the Agreement.

# CLAUSE 2 - TITLE

2.1 This Agreement shall be known as the Evergreen Life Care Enterprise Agreement 2024-2027 and throughout is referred to as “the Agreement”.

# CLAUSE 3 – PARTIES BOUND

* 1. This Agreement shall be binding according to its terms upon the following:
     1. Evergreen Lifecare Ltd (ABN 95 003 777 259) herein known as Evergreen;
     2. Health Services Union NSW/ACT/QLD Branch;
     3. New South Wales Nurses and Midwives' Association; and
     4. Australian Nursing and Midwifery Federation (NSW Branch); and
     5. those employees of Evergreen performing work within the structure contained in this Agreement.

# CLAUSE 4 – COMMENCEMENT AND DURATION

* 1. The Agreement will take effect 7 days after the date of approval by the Fair Work Commission. The Agreement will have a nominal expiry date of 30 June 2027.
  2. Renegotiation of the Agreement will commence by 3 months prior to the nominal expiry date of the Agreement.

# CLAUSE 5 – COMPLETE AGREEMENT

5.1 Other than individual flexibility agreements reached in accordance with Clause 44: Request for Flexible Working Arrangements, the Agreement is intended to cover all matters pertaining to the employment relationship. In this regard, it represents a complete statement of the mutual rights and obligations between the Employer and their employees to the exclusion (to the extent permitted by law) of other laws, Awards, Agreements (whether registered or unregistered), custom and practice and like instruments or arrangements.

# CLAUSE 6 – AGREEMENT FLEXIBILITY

* 1. Evergreen and an employee covered by this Agreement may agree to make individual flexibility arrangements to vary the effect of terms of the Agreement if:
     1. the agreement deals with one (1) or more of the following matters:
        1. arrangements about when work is performed;
        2. overtime rates;
        3. penalty rates;
        4. allowances;
        5. leave loading; and
     2. the arrangement meets the genuine needs of Evergreen and the employee in relation to one (1) or more of the matters mentioned in sub-clause 6.1 (a); and
     3. the arrangement is genuinely agreed to by Evergreen and the employee.
     4. Management when seeking to enter into an agreement must provide a written proposal to the employee. Where the employee's understanding of written English is limited management will take measures, including translation into an appropriate language, to ensure the employee understands the proposal.
  2. Evergreen must ensure that the terms of the individual flexibility arrangement:
     1. are about permitted matters under section 172 of the Fair Work Act 2009; and
     2. are not unlawful terms under section 194 of the Fair Work Act 2009; and
     3. result in the employee being better off overall than the employee would be if no arrangement was made.
  3. Evergreen must ensure that the individual flexibility arrangement:
     1. is in writing; and
     2. includes the name of Evergreen and the employee; and
     3. is signed by Evergreen and the employee and if the employee is under 18 years of age, signed by a parent or guardian of the employee; and
     4. includes details of:
        1. the terms of this Agreement that will be varied by the arrangement; and
        2. how the arrangement will vary the effect of the terms; and
        3. how the employee will be better off overall in relation to the terms and conditions of their employment as a result of the arrangement; and
     5. states the day on which the arrangement commences.
  4. Evergreen must give the employee a copy of the individual flexibility arrangement within 14 days after it is agreed to.
  5. Evergreen or the employee may terminate the individual flexibility arrangement:
     1. by giving no more than 28 days written notice to the other party to the arrangement; or
     2. if Evergreen and the employee agree in writing - at any time.

# CLAUSE 7 – NATIONAL EMPLOYMENT STANDARDS (NES)

* 1. The NES, as may be varied from time to time, must apply to the Employees who are bound by the Agreement. Any provisions of the NES that are also referred to or set out in the Agreement are for the convenience of the parties.
  2. Where the NES, as may be varied from time to time, provides a condition or entitlement more favourable to the Employee than a condition or entitlement set out in the Agreement, the NES prevails.
  3. Where the Agreement provides a condition or entitlement more favourable to the Employee than a condition or entitlement of the NES, the Agreement prevails.
  4. A Fair Work Information Statement will be provided in accordance with Section 125 of the Act.
  5. A Casual Employment Information Statement will be provided in accordance with Section 125B of the Act.

# CLAUSE 8 - DEFINITIONS

Where a term of this Agreement has a corresponding definition in the Act, the Regulations or the NES, the definition in the Act, the Regulations or the NES shall apply. Any such terms that are also defined in this Agreement are defined for the convenience only of the parties and shall be overridden to the extent of any inconsistency with the definition found in the Act, the Regulations, or the NES.

For the purpose of this Agreement:

**Act** means the Fair Work Act 2009 (as amended).

**ADO** means accrued day off

**AHPRA** means the Australian Health Practitioner Regulation Agency

**Base Rate of Pay** means the rate of pay for a period worked (however the rate is described) that does not include incentive-based payments and bonuses, loadings, monetary allowances, penalty rates or any other similar separately identifiable entitlements

**Board** means the Nursing and Midwifery Board of Australia and shall also be taken to mean a reference to the AHPRA as appropriate/applicable

**De Facto Partner** means:

* + 1. A person who, although not legally married to the Employee, lives with the Employee in a relationship as a couple on genuine domestic basis (whether the Employee and the person are of the same sex or different sexes;) and
    2. Includes a former de facto partner of the Employee **Employer** means the Employer listed in Parties Bound in clause 3.1 a)

**FWC** means the Fair Work Commission

**Higher Duties** means the duties and tasks of another employee, or job, in a higher classification

**Household member** means any person who lives with the Employee

**Immediate Family** means:

1. A spouse, a former spouse, de facto partner, child, parent, grandparent, grandchild or sibling of the Employee; or
2. A child, parent, grandparent, grandchild or sibling of a spouse or a former spouse or de facto partner of the Employee.

**NES** means the National Employment Standards

**Nurse** means a Registered Nurse or Enrolled Nurse

**Ordinary Pay** means the base rate of pay; any applicable over agreement payments for ordinary hours of work; it does not include, shift, or weekend penalties

**Shift Worker** means:

1. An Employee who is regularly rostered to work their ordinary hours outside Monday to Friday, 6am to 6pm; and/or
2. An Employee who works for more than 4 ordinary hours on 10 or more weekends

**Union or Unions** means the Australian Nursing & Midwifery Federation New South Wales Branch (also known as the NSWNMA) and the Health Services Union New South Wales Branch

# CLAUSE 9 – NO EXTRA CLAIMS

* 1. The parties bound by this Agreement acknowledge that this Agreement settles all claims in relation to the terms and conditions of employment of the employees to whom it all applies and agree that they will not pursue any extra claims during the term of this Agreement.
  2. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, there shall be no industrial action for the purpose of supporting or advancing claims against Evergreen until the nominal expiry date has passed the requirements of the Act have been satisfied.
  3. Where any disagreement arises, the parties shall follow the Dispute Settlement Procedure contained in this Agreement. The parties acknowledge that the terms of this Agreement represent the totality of all matters arising from this agreement and that no industrial action shall be taken in support of any matter(s) whatsoever which is (are) covered or not covered by this Agreement until its nominal expiry date has passed and the requirements of the Act have been satisfied.
  4. In the event that the Modern Awards pertaining to this Agreement are the subject of Work Value Case or other increase to rates of pay, Evergreen will consult with the relevant parties during the life of this Agreement.

# CLAUSE 10 – RELATIONSHIP TO POLICIES AND PROCEDURES

10.1 This Agreement requires the employees to perform their duties in accordance with the policies and procedures determined by Evergreen, in place and as varied from time to time. This Agreement does not incorporate or otherwise include as terms of this Agreement any such policy or procedure and does not affect Evergreen’s ability to vary, revoke or establish any such policy or procedure from time to time.

# CLAUSE 11 – ACCESS TO AGREEMENT AND THE NES

11.1 The Employer must ensure that copies of this Agreement and the NES are available to all Employees in a readily accessible location at or near the workplace or through electronic means.

# CLAUSE 12 – NATIONAL CRIMINAL HISTORY CHECK

* 1. The Employer is required to ensure Employees, contractors, and volunteers, who have, or are reasonably likely to have, access to care recipients undergo a National Criminal History Record Check, commonly known as a Police Check.
  2. The Employer will pay the cost of new Employee’s initial Police Check before commencing employment if required.
  3. The Employer will pay the cost of renewal of Police Checks for Employees required to undergo such checks.

# CLAUSE 13 – EMPLOYEE ENGAGEMENT

* 1. **MINIMUM EMPLOYMENT PERIOD**
     1. Employees (other than casual employees) will be on a period of probation for the first six (6) months of engagement for the purpose of determining the employee's suitability for ongoing employment.
     2. At any time during the probation period, Evergreen or the employee may terminate the employment by providing written notice in accordance with Clause 51: Termination of Employment.
     3. Employees will not be protected from unfair dismissal where they are terminated within the probation period ending at the earlier of:
        1. the time when the person is given notice of the dismissal; or
        2. immediately before the dismissal.
  2. **FULL TIME EMPLOYEES**

A full time Employee is engaged to work an average of 38 hours per week.

* 1. **PART TIME EMPLOYEES**
     1. A Part-Time Employee is an Employee who is engaged to work less than Full-Time hours of an average of 38 hours per week and has reasonably predictable hours of work.
     2. Before commencing employment, the Employer and the Employee will agree in writing to one of two options listed below.
     3. **Option 1**
        1. the minimum number of hours the employee will work each week, for example 20 hours a week; and
        2. the span of individual availability within which the Employer can roster the Employee, for example; the Employee confirms they are available to be rostered from 6.00am to 10.00pm Monday to Wednesday and 8.00am to 12 noon on a Friday (the span of individual availability).
     4. **Option 2**
        1. a regular pattern of work including the number of hours to be worked each week for example 20 hours; and
        2. the days of the week the Employee will work and the starting and finishing times each day, for example 8.00am to 4.30pm Monday and Tuesday and 12noon until 4.00pm Wednesday.
     5. No duress or undue influence may be applied by the Employer to an Employee when they decide on what option of work pattern, they prefer. Any such agreement must be recorded in writing and signed by the Employee and on behalf of the Employer.
     6. The agreed regular pattern of work does not necessarily have to provide for the same number of hours in each week. For example; an Employee may work 18 hours one week and 22 the next to average 20 hours a week instead of just 20 hours a week.
     7. The agreement made under option 1 may subsequently be varied by agreement between the Employer and the Employee in writing. Any such agreement may be ongoing or for a specified period of time.
     8. The agreement made under option 2 may subsequently be varied by agreement between the Employer and the Employee in writing. Any such agreement may be ongoing or for a specified period of time.
     9. A Part-Time Employee may request or be offered additional hours (ie: hours in excess of the Employee’s agreed regular pattern of work) provided the hours meet the requirements of clause 15 (Arrangement of Hours) and are within the Employee’s availability. If the Employee works those additional hours by agreement with the Employer, the Employee will be paid at the Employee’s Base Rate of Pay.
     10. Any agreement between an Employee and the Employee’s manager in accordance with clause(s) 13.3 g) h) i) shall become part of the Employee’s time and attendance record.
     11. The terms of this Enterprise Agreement will apply on a pro rata basis to Part-Time Employees on the basis that the ordinary weekly hours for Full-Time Employees are 38.
     12. Payment in respect of personal/carer’s leave (where an Employee has accumulated an entitlement) for a Part-Time Employee will be on a pro rata basis made according to the number of ordinary hours the Employee would have worked on the day or days on which the leave was taken.
     13. Within 4 weeks of commencing employment, an Employee, if they have chosen Option 1 and they wish to change to option 2, they are able to do so.
  2. **PART-TIME EMPLOYEE REVIEW OF HOURS**
     1. Where an Employee is regularly working more than their agreed regular number of hours, the Employee may request to have their hours reviewed annually.
     2. The hours worked in the following circumstances will not be incorporated in any adjustment:
        1. If the increase in hours is as a direct result of an Employee being absent on leave, for example annual leave, long service leave, parental leave, workers compensation; and
        2. If the increase in hours is due to a temporary increase in hours only due, for example, to the specific needs of the Employer.
     3. If a review establishes a consistent pattern of greater hours is being worked, the Employer will offer the Employee those additional hours as part of their agreed hours of work.
  3. **CASUAL EMPLOYMENT**
     1. A casual Employee is an Employee engaged on an hourly basis.
     2. The rate of pay for ordinary hours of work is the Base Rate of Pay, plus a loading in lieu of annual leave, personal leave and public holidays. The loading paid will be 25% The rates of pay for Casuals with any loadings or penalties are set out in the following table:

|  |  |  |
| --- | --- | --- |
| Type | Penalty | Total rate |
| Ordinary Hours | 25% | 125% |
| Employees, other than Home Care Employees for afternoon shift commencing at or after 10:00 am and before 1:00 pm Afternoon Shift | 10% | 137.5% |
| Employees, other than Home Care Employees for afternoon shift commencing at or after 1:00 pm and before 4:00 pm | 12.5% | 140.6% |
| Employees, other than Home Care Employees for night shift commencing at or after 4:00 pm and before 4:00 am | 15.0% | 143.75% |
| Employees, other than Home Care Employees for night shift commencing at or after 4:00 am and before 6:00 am | 10% | 137.5% |
| Home Care Employees for afternoon shift which finishes after 8.00 pm and at or before 12 midnight Monday to Friday. | 12.5% | 140.6% |
| Home Care Employees for night shift which finishes after 12 midnight or commences before 6.00 am Monday to Friday | 15% | 143.75% |
| Saturday | 150% | 187.5% |
| Sunday | 200% | 250% |
| Public Holiday | 250% | 312.5% |

* 1. **CASUAL CONVERSION**
     1. Casual Conversion will be as required by the NES.
  2. **TRAINEES**

Trainees will be employed in accordance with the provisions set out in the Miscellaneous Award 2020. The rates contained in the Miscellaneous Award 2020 will move in accordance with changes to the Trainee rates in the Miscellaneous Award 2020 as they vary from time to time.

* 1. **APPRENTICES**
     1. In addition to the above categories, Employees may be engaged as Apprentices.
     2. Apprentice means an Employee who is serving a period of training under a training contract for the purpose of rendering him or her fit to be a qualified worker in the industry.
     3. No Apprentice will be permitted or required to perform work which would prevent the apprentice from attending classes at their relevant training establishment.
  2. **JUNIOR RATES**

|  |  |
| --- | --- |
| **Age** | **Minimum % of the minimum weekly rate** |
| 16 years of age and under | 50 |
| 17 years of age | 60 |
| 18 years of age | 70 |
| 19 years of age | 85 |
| 20 years of age | 100 |

Junior rates contained in sub-clause 13.9 will only apply to Levels 1, 2 and 3 in Schedule B Table 1.

# CLAUSE 14 - CLASSIFICATION

* 1. The Employer must classify Employees according to the structure and definitions set out in Schedule A – Employment Classifications.
  2. If an Employee believes that they are incorrectly classified, they may request a review of their classification.
  3. A request for a review of classification must be given to the Employer in writing.
  4. The Employer must consider the request considering the following:
     1. The nature of the work undertaken; and
     2. The skills and responsibilities required; and
     3. The conditions under which the work is performed.
  5. This will not apply if an Employee is simply performing more work at the same classification or different work at the same classification or temporarily occupying a position at a higher level under Clause 25 - Higher Duties.
  6. The above provisions do not apply to Registered Nurses (Level 5 Employees) who progress based upon years of service.
  7. **RECOGNITION OF SERVICE AND EXPERIENCE FOR REGISTERED NURSES AND ENROLLED NURSES**
     1. From the time of commencement of employment, Employees classified as Registered Nurses and Enrolled Nurses have 3 months in which to provide documentary evidence to the Employer, detailing any other relevant service or experience not disclosed at the time of commencement. This evidence, in the absence of other documentary evidence, may take the form of a statutory declaration.
     2. Until such time as the Employee furnishes any such relevant documentation contemplated in clause 14.7a), the Employer will pay the Employee at the level for which proof has been provided.
     3. If within 3 months of commencing employment an Employee does provide the relevant documentary evidence of other previous relevant service or experience not disclosed at the time of commencement, the Employer will pay the Employee at the appropriate rate as and from the date of commencement that would have been paid from that date had the additional evidence been provided at that time.
     4. If an Employee provides documentary evidence of other previous relevant service or experience not disclosed at the time of commencement after the said 3 months period, the Employee will be paid a rate appropriate for the previous relevant service or experience then proved, but only from the date of providing that evidence to the Employer.
     5. An Employee who is working in the same classification for more than one organisation will notify the Employer within 1 month of the end of each quarter of their hours worked with those other Employers in the last quarter.
     6. An Employee who is entitled to progress to the next year of service or experience (by reason of hours worked with other Employers) as and from a particular date must provide proof of that entitlement within 3 months of that entitlement arising. If that proof is so provided, the Employee will be paid at the higher rate as and from the date they were entitled to progress to the next year of service or experience. If the proof is provided outside that 3-month period, the Employee will be paid at the higher rate only from the date that proof is provided.
     7. For the purpose of yearly progression based on service and experience, an Employee must complete 1976 hours of work including any Annual Leave taken during the year.
  8. **LABOUR FLEXIBILITY AND MIXED FUNCTIONS**
     1. The Employer may direct an Employee to carry out such duties as are within the limits of the Employee's skill, competence, and training.
     2. The Employer may direct an Employee to carry out such duties and use such tools and equipment as may be required, provided the Employee possesses the relevant skills and competence to perform such tasks. Where the Employee does not possess such skills and competence, appropriate training shall be facilitated.
     3. Any direction issued by the Employer pursuant to clauses 14.8 a) or 14.8 b) will be consistent with the Employer’s responsibility to provide a safe and healthy working environment for Employees, and the Employer's duty of care to residents and/or clients.

# CLAUSE 15 – ARRANGEMENT OF HOURS

* 1. The ordinary hours of work, exclusive of mealtimes, must not exceed an average of 38 hours per week.
  2. The hours of work in clause 15.1 may be arranged as follows:
     1. 76 hours per fortnight to be arranged so that each Employee will not work their ordinary hours on more than ten (10) days in the fortnight; or
     2. 152 hours in a 28 calendar-day cycle to be arranged so that each Employee must not work their ordinary hours on more than 20 days in the 28

calendar-day cycle; or

* + 1. 152 hours in a 28 calendar-day cycle to be arranged so that each Employee will not work their ordinary hours on more than 19 days with the twentieth day taken as an Accrued Day Off (ADO) paid at the ordinary rate.
    2. As otherwise agreed in writing between the Employer and the Employee over a period of no more than 13 weeks.
  1. Employees will be free from duty for not less than 2 full days in each week or 4 full days in each fortnight or 8 full days in each 28-day cycle. Where practical, days off will be consecutive. These days are referred to as Rostered Days Off (RDO).
  2. Each shift must consist of no more than 8 ordinary hours of work for day shift and 10 ordinary hours of work for night shift (not including unpaid meal breaks).
  3. The Employer will not require an employee to work more than 7 consecutive shifts however where the employee requests and Evergreen agrees this must be confirmed in writing. This agreement will be confirmed by way of an Individual Flexibility Agreement as described in Clause 6.2: Agreement Flexibility.
  4. Except for meal breaks and the periods not worked in broken shifts, all time from the commencement to the cessation of duty of each shift will count as working time.
  5. The Employer will ensure there is a provision in rosters for a minimum 15-minute handover at the commencement of each shift.
  6. **MINIMUM STARTS**
     1. Full time Employee:
        1. A full time Employee must be paid a minimum of 4 hours for each shift.
     2. Part time Employee:
        1. A part time Employee must be paid a minimum of 4 hours for each shift.
     3. Casual Employees:
        1. Casual Employees who are not involved in Home Care must be paid a minimum of 4 hours for each shift.
        2. Casual Employees involved in Home Care work must be paid a minimum of 4 hour for each shift.
  7. **REASONABLE ADDITIONAL HOURS**
     1. All hours worked over an average of 38 ordinary hours per week, will be deemed to be additional hours. All hours worked by part time Employees beyond their guaranteed minimum number of hours will be treated as

additional hours for the purpose of this clause. From time to time, full time Employees may be asked to work a reasonable number of additional hours. Part time Employees may be asked, but are not required, to agree to work a reasonable number of additional hours. All additional hours worked will be paid in accordance with this Agreement.

* + 1. An Employee must not be required to work additional hours in circumstances where the working of additional hours would result in the Employee working hours which are unreasonable having regards to (refer to section 62 of the Act):
       1. Any risk to Employee health and safety from working the additional hours;
       2. The Employee's personal circumstances, including family responsibilities;
       3. The needs of the workplace or enterprise in which the Employee is employed;
       4. Whether the Employee is entitled to receive overtime payments, penalty rates or other compensation for, or a level of remuneration that reflects an expectation of, working additional hours;
       5. Any notice given by the Employer of any request or requirement to work the additional hours;
       6. Any notice given by the Employee of their intention to refuse to work the additional hours;
       7. The usual patterns of work in the industry, or the part of an industry, in which the Employee works;
       8. The nature of the Employee's role, and the Employee's level of responsibility;
       9. Whether the additional hours are in accordance with averaging terms included under Section 63 of the Act or this Enterprise Agreement that applies to the Employee;
       10. Any other relevant matter.
  1. **ACCRUED DAYS OFF (ADO)**
     1. A full time Employee whose ordinary hours of work are arranged in accordance with clause 15.2 c) will be entitled to an ADO in each cycle of 28 days. The ordinary hours of work on each of those days will be arranged to include a proportion of one hour on the basis of 0.4 of one hour for each 8-hour shift worked which will accumulate towards the Employee’s Accrued day off duty on pay.
     2. A full time Employee’s ADO will be determined by mutual agreement between the Employee and the Employer having regard to the needs of the place of employment or sections thereof. Such ADO will, where practicable, be consecutive with the rostered days off. Provided that ADOs will not be rostered on public holidays.
     3. Where the Employer and the Employee agree, up to 5 ADOs may be accumulated and taken in conjunction with the Employee’s Annual Leave or at another agreed time. Accrued ADO’s must be used within a 12-month period after accrual.
     4. Where more than 5 days have been accumulated, the Employer may require the Employee to:
        1. take the ADOs within 3 months; or
        2. be paid out the ADOs at ordinary pay.
     5. No time towards an ADO will accumulate during periods of workers’ compensation, unpaid Parental Leave, Long Service Leave, any period of unpaid leave, Annual Leave or on an ADO.
     6. Credit towards an ADO will continue to accumulate whilst an Employee is on paid Personal/Carer’s Leave. Where an accrued day off falls during a period of Personal/Carer’s Leave, the Employee’s available Personal/Carer’s Leave shall not be debited for that day.
     7. Employees entitled to ADOs will continue to accrue credits towards them in respect of each day those Employees are absent on leave in accordance with Clause 20.1: Public Holidays.
     8. An Employee will be paid for any accumulated ADOs, at ordinary pay, on the termination of their employment for any reason.
     9. By agreement with the Employer, an Employee may cash out any accumulated ADOs at ordinary pay.
  2. **RIGHT TO DISCONNECT**
     1. Unless it is unreasonable to do so, an Employee may refuse to monitor, read or respond to contact, or attempted contact, from:
        1. their Employer outside of the employee’s working hours,
        2. a third party if the contact or attempted contact relates to, their work and is outside of the Employee's working hours.

# CLAUSE 16 - ROSTERS

* 1. The principles which will inform the rostering allocations are as follows:
     1. No one, as a right, has a fixed roster. Rostering preferences will be accommodated as far as possible, consistent with filling the roster in accordance with experience and skill mix requirements. Employees will be obligated to comply with rostering requirements. The Employer will consider Employee requests to not fill the shift on a case-by-case basis.
     2. An appropriate skill mix of Registered Nurses, Enrolled Nurses and Carers shall be considered to meet the needs of resident care.
     3. As far as possible the same staff will be allocated to the same residents to ensure continuity of care.
  2. 1. The Employer must ensure that the roster is made available for each Employee in a form accessible to the Employee. A roster which includes the following information:
        1. The ordinary hours of work for each Employee;
        2. Each sleepover; and
        3. ADOs where applicable.
     2. The roster must be displayed at least two weeks prior to the commencing date of the first working period in any roster subject to clause 16.2 c). The parties agree that it is desirable to display the roster as far in advance as is possible, and the Employer will use their best endeavours to ensure that the roster is displayed 4 weeks prior.
     3. The roster and changes to the roster may be communicated to an Employee in a range of ways including a hard copy in a place conveniently accessible to an Employee such as portal, App, telephone, direct contact, mail, email, or SMS. Appropriate consultation should be undertaken with individuals where roster changes are to be of a more permanent nature.
     4. Clause 16.2 a) will not make it obligatory for the Employer to display any roster of ordinary hours of work of casual or relieving Employees.
     5. Apart from clause 16.2, a roster may be altered at any time:
        1. So as to enable the service of the organisation to be carried on;
           1. where another Employee is unexpectedly absent from duty; or
           2. in the event of an emergency; or
        2. In accordance with clause 16.4: Client Cancellation; or
        3. Where the Employer and Employee affected agree.
     6. Where vacant shifts exist, Evergreen will wherever possible, offer additional shifts to permanent part-time employees before they are offered to casual employees or agency staff.
  3. **CLIENT CANCELLATION**
     1. Evergreen will take all reasonable steps to notify the Employee of the change in client service arrangements, as soon as possible. Such reasonable steps will be by way of direct communication as outlined in sub-clause 16.2 c) such as telephone notification or SMS text message.
     2. Where a home care client cancels or changes the scheduled service, a

full-time or part time Employee may be directed to perform other work at the same time without loss of pay.

* + 1. Where the Employer cannot provide other work at that time, they may direct the Employee to work make-up time within the following 3 months.
    2. The Employer may not direct the Employee to work make-up time if they had not been notified of the cancellation before the Employee arrived to perform that work.
    3. The Employer may only withhold payment for the cancelled period if:
       1. They provide the Employee with notice of this change by 5.00 pm the day before; and
       2. The Employee informs them in writing at the time of the notice that they will not work make-up time within the following 3-month period.
    4. Make-up time may include work with other clients or in other areas of the Employer’s business.
    5. The Employer may only direct an Employee to work make-up time at a time and place that is reasonable.
    6. An Employee must not unreasonably refuse to work make-up time.

# CLAUSE 17 - OVERTIME

* 1. Overtime is paid in the following circumstances:
     1. Where a full time Employee:
        1. Works in excess of their ordinary hours;
        2. Works in excess of 10 hours per shift;
        3. Works on a rostered day off.

|  |  |  |  |  |
| --- | --- | --- | --- | --- |
| **Classification of Employee** | **Monday to Friday** | **Saturday** | **Sunday** | **Public holidays** |
| Aged Care |  | 200% |  |  |
|  | 150% for the first two hours and 200% thereafter |  | 200% | 250% |
| , | 150% for the first two hours |
| Nursing and |  | and 200% |  |  |
| Home Care |  | thereafter |  |  |

* + 1. Where a part time or casual Employee works:
       1. Additional hours in excess of 10 hours per day (part time or casual); and/or
       2. Additional hours in excess of 76 hours per fortnight (part time or casual); and/or
       3. Additional hours worked on a day that means the Employee has not had 4 work-free days in that fortnight (part time).
       4. Additional hours in excess of the rostered hours on any one day (unless an agreement has been reached under clause 15.9 to work reasonable additional hours) (part time).

|  |  |  |  |  |
| --- | --- | --- | --- | --- |
| **Classification of Employee** | **Monday to Friday** | **Saturday** | **Sunday** | **Public Holidays** |
| Part time Nursing and Home Care | 150% for the first two hours and 200% thereafter | 150% for the first two hours and 200% thereafter | 200% | 250% |

|  |  |  |  |  |
| --- | --- | --- | --- | --- |
| Casual Nursing | 187.5% for the first two hours and 250% thereafter | 187.5% for the first two hours and 250% thereafter | 250% | 312.5% |
| Casual Home Care | 175% for the first two hours and 225% thereafter | 175% for the first two hours and 225% thereafter | 225% | 275% |
| Part time Aged Care - all time worked in excess of 38 hours per week or 76 hours per fortnight, or all time worked in excess of a part-time employee’s rostered hours on any one day | 150% for the first two hours and 200% thereafter | 200% | 200% | 250% |
| Casual Aged Care - all time worked in excess of 38 hours per week or 76 hours per fortnight | 187.5% for the first two hours and 250% thereafter | 250% | 250% | 312.5% |
| Part time Aged Care - all time worked in excess of 10 hours per day | 150% for the first two hours and 200% thereafter | 150% for the first two hours and 200% thereafter | 200% | 250% |
| Casual Aged Care - all time worked in excess of 10 hours per day | 187.5% for the first two hours and 250% thereafter | 187.5% for the first two hours and 250% thereafter | 250% | 312.5% |

* + 1. Where an Employee is deprived of part of their break or their break between shifts as required by Clause 21.
  1. Overtime rates under this clause will be in substitution for and not cumulative upon the shift and weekend penalties prescribed in Clause 18.1: Shift and Weekend Work and the casual loading in clause 13.4 b).
  2. Where the next shift is due to commence before the Employee has had their break, one of the following will apply:
     1. The Employee will be released prior to, or after the completion of their shift to permit them to have their break without loss of pay for the working time occurring during such absence.
     2. If at the request of the Employer, an Employee works without their break, they will be paid until they are released from duty at overtime rates. Once released from duty such Employees will be entitled to be absent from work until they have had their 10-hour break without loss of pay for working time occurring during such an absence.
  3. **RECALL TO WORK OVERTIME**
     1. With the exception of Employees working broken shifts, Employees who are recalled to work overtime after leaving the Employer's place of work will be paid a minimum of four hours at the applicable overtime rate for each time recalled. The 4-hour minimum payment only applies where overtime is payable for any of the work for which the employee is recalled to perform. Provided that, except in unforeseen circumstances, an employee shall not be required to work the full four hours if the tasks they were recalled to perform are completed within a shorter period. An Employee recalled to work overtime will be reimbursed reasonable travel expenses incurred in respect of the recall to work.
     2. Where an Employee elects to use their own vehicle, the Employee will be paid the per-kilometre allowance set out in Schedule B to this Agreement.
  4. For the purposes of assessing overtime, each day will stand alone, provided that where any one period of overtime is continuous and extends beyond midnight, all overtime hours in this period will be regarded as if they had occurred within the one day.

# CLAUSE 18 – SHIFT AND WEEKEND WORK

* 1. Employees, other than Home Care Employees, will be paid the following penalties, calculated on their ordinary pay, for shifts rostered in accordance with the following. Provided that part time and casual Employees will only be entitled to the additional rates where their shifts commence prior to 6.00am, or finish subsequent to 6:00pm:
     1. 10% for afternoon shift commencing at or after 10:00 am and before 1:00 pm.
     2. 12.5% for afternoon shift commencing at or after 1:00 pm and before 4:00 pm.
     3. 15% for night shift commencing at or after 4:00 pm and before 4:00 am.
     4. 10% for night shift commencing at or after 4:00 am and before 6:00 am.
  2. Home Care Employees will be paid the following penalties, calculated on their on their ordinary pay for shifts rostered in accordance with the following:
     1. 12.5% for afternoon shift which finishes after 8.00 pm and at or before 12 midnight Monday to Friday.
     2. 15% for night shift which finishes after 12 midnight or commences before 6.00 am Monday to Friday.
  3. Full time or part time Employees will be paid the following penalties for ordinary hours of work occurring on a Saturday or a Sunday:
     1. For work between midnight on Friday and midnight on Saturday - time and one half.
     2. For work between midnight on Saturday and midnight on Sunday - time and three quarters.

# CLAUSE 19 - BROKEN SHIFTS

* 1. A ‘broken shift” for the purposes of this clause means a single shift worked by an Employee that includes one or more breaks other than a meal break.
  2. An Employee may agree to work broken shifts at any time for any duration.
  3. An Employee may be required to work broken shifts only in the following circumstances:
     1. In home care; or
     2. In an emergency – including an Employee absence; or
     3. Up to and including a four (4) week continuous period for circumstances other than those covered by clauses 19.3 a) and 19.3 b)
     4. Where an Employee has served a period of broken shifts in accordance with clause 19.3 c) the Employee will not be required to serve a further period on broken shifts until he or she has been off broken shifts for a period equivalent to the previous period of broken shifts.
  4. Where the time between the commencement and termination of the broken shift exceeds 12 hours, all work performed beyond those 12 hours will be paid at double time.
  5. An employee must receive a minimum break of 10 hours between broken shifts rostered on successive days.
  6. Where a broken shift is worked, an Employee will receive an allowance equivalent to half an hour of their ordinary pay per shift as per Schedule B Table 2 - Allowances.
  7. Payment for a broken shift will be at ordinary pay with penalty rates and shift allowances in accordance with Clause 18: Shift and Weekend Work, plus the allowance in Schedule B Table 2 - Allowances.

# CLAUSE 20 – PUBLIC HOLIDAYS

* 1. Public holidays are as provided by the NES. This clause contains additional provisions.
  2. The parties acknowledge that Evergreen provide services to their residents and clients 24 hours a day, 7 days a week. In acknowledging this, Employees accept that in certain positions they may be required to work on a public holiday. This Agreement expressly contemplates that the Employer will require work on public holidays, or particular public holidays, and the parties acknowledge that the nature of the work performed by the Employee, the type of employment (for example, whether full time, part time, casual, or shift work) and the nature of the Employer’s workplace or enterprise (including its operational requirements) will require work on public holidays, or particular public holidays.
  3. The Employer may request any Employee who is not normally working on a public holiday to work on a particular public holiday.
  4. The Employee may refuse the request (and take the day off) if the Employee has reasonable grounds for doing so. In determining whether a request or a refusal of a request, to work on a public holiday is reasonable, the following must be taken into account:
     1. The nature of the Employer’s workplace as stated in clause 20.2, and the nature of the work performed by the Employee;
     2. The Employee's personal circumstances, including family responsibilities;
     3. Whether the Employee could reasonably expect that the Employer might request work on the public holiday as outlined in clause 20.2;
     4. Whether the Employee is entitled to receive overtime payments, penalty rates or other compensation for, or a level of remuneration that reflects an expectation of work on the public holiday;
     5. The type of employment of the Employee (for example, whether full time, part time, casual, or shift work);
     6. The amount of notice in advance of the public holiday given by the Employer when making the request;
     7. In relation to the refusal of a request, the amount of notice in advance of the public holiday given by the Employee when refusing the request; or
     8. Any other relevant matter.
  5. An Employee who, without the consent of the Employer or without reasonable cause, such as Personal/Carer’s Leave, is absent from work on a public holiday after agreeing to work on a public holiday, is not entitled to any payment for such public holiday.
  6. For the purposes of the Agreement, the following are deemed to be public holidays:
     1. New Year's Day; Australia Day; Good Friday; Easter Saturday; Easter Sunday; Easter Monday; Anzac Day; King's Birthday; Labour Day; Christmas Day; Boxing Day;
     2. Any other day, or part-day, declared or prescribed by or under a law of a State or Territory to be observed generally within the State or Territory as a public holiday, other than a day or part-day, or a kind of day or part-day, that is excluded by the regulations from counting as a public holiday; and
     3. Local Public Holiday:
        1. Any other day, or part-day, declared or prescribed by or under a law of New South Wales to be observed as a public holiday, other than a day or part-day, or a kind of day or part-day that is excluded by the regulations from counting as a public holiday.
     4. Additional Public Holiday:
        1. At the commencement of each calendar year, the Employer must nominate a day to be observed as an additional public holiday.
     5. The Employer and Employees may agree to substitute another day for a public holiday observed at clause 20.6.
  7. An Employee who is required to and does work on any public holiday prescribed in this clause will be paid in lieu of all other shift penalties (except broken shift allowances), and payment shall be as follows:
     1. Full time Employees: Double time and a half for all ordinary time worked. Alternatively, the Employee may elect to be paid time and a half for the hours worked and take the remaining time as 1 ordinary working day off, to be taken at a time agreed between the Employee and Employer. The Employer must not unreasonably refuse a request. The ordinary working day off must be taken within 12 weeks. If the time off is not taken within 12 weeks the Employer must pay the Employee the equivalent hours at the ordinary rate of pay.
     2. Part time Employees: Double time and a half for all ordinary time worked on the public holiday, although where the time worked by agreement is less than the rostered shift, the balance of the rostered shift will be paid at ordinary pay. Alternatively, the Employee may elect to be paid time and a half for the hours worked and take the remaining time as 1 ordinary working day off, to be taken at a time agreed between the Employee and Employer. The Employer must not unreasonably refuse a request. The ordinary working day off must be taken within 12 weeks. If the time off is not taken within 12 weeks the Employer must pay the Employee the equivalent hours at the ordinary rate of pay.
     3. Casual Employees: Double time and three-quarters of the ordinary rate of pay for all time worked. Such payment will be taken to be inclusive of and not in addition to the casual loading referred to in clause 13.5.

# CLAUSE 21 – BREAKS

* 1. **TEA BREAKS**
     1. Two separate 10-minute tea breaks (in addition to meal breaks) will be allowed to each Employee on duty during each ordinary shift of 7.6 hours or more.
     2. Where an Employee works 4 hours or more but less than 7.6 hours, the Employee will be allowed one 10-minute tea break.
     3. Subject to agreement between the Employer and the Employee, the two

10-minute tea breaks may alternatively be taken as one 20-minute tea break, or by one 10-minute tea break with the Employee allowed to proceed off duty ten minutes before the completion of the normal shift finishing time.

* + 1. Such tea break/s shall count as working time.
  1. **MEAL BREAKS**
     1. Employees will not be required to work more than 5 hours without a meal break. Such meal break will be of between 30- and 60-minutes’ duration and will not count as time worked.
     2. An Employee will be paid overtime rates if they are required to work more than 6 hours without a meal break, from the commencement of the 6th hour of the shift, until a meal break is taken by the Employee.
     3. Where an Employee works a 6-hour shift and the Employee requests that they may work without a break and the Employer agrees, then the Employee may work without a break.
     4. Where a Home Care Employee is required by the Employer to have a meal with a client or clients as part of the normal work routine or client program, they will be paid for the duration of the meal period at ordinary pay, and clause 21.2 a) does not apply.
     5. In the event that all or some of the meals of breakfast, lunch and dinner are not provided for a live-in home carer, the Employer will reimburse such reasonable amounts for same, upon proof of expenditure.
  2. Aside from the provisions of Clause 21.2, an Employee required to work in excess of 10 hours in a shift will be entitled to a 60-minute meal break. Such time will be taken as either two 30-minute meal breaks or one 60-minute meal break, subject to agreement between the Employer and Employee.
  3. An Employee must receive the following breaks between shifts:
     1. 8 hours:
        1. Between ordinary rostered shifts, which are not broken shifts; and/or
        2. Where reasonable additional hours are worked which are not overtime hours; and
     2. 10 hours
        1. where overtime is worked or where broken shifts are worked on successive days.

# CLAUSE 22 – MANDATORY MEETINGS AND TRAINING

* 1. The Employer must provide an Employee with reasonable notice of the requirement to attend a mandatory meeting or mandatory training.
  2. An Employee attending a mandatory meeting or mandatory training that interrupts their required break between rostered shifts will be paid at the overtime rate of pay for the duration of the meeting or training.
  3. Where it is not practical to provide mandatory training to an Employee during their normal rostered hours of work clause 28.7 applies.

# CLAUSE 23 – PAY AND PAYMENT

* 1. The Employer must pay Employees according to their classification in accordance with Schedule B Table 1 - Rates of Pay.
  2. Employees must be provided with the particulars of their wages via a payslip in electronic form or hard copy. When possible, Evergreen will provide sick leave entitlements on employees pay slips.
  3. Wages shall be paid fortnightly or where mutually agreed, monthly.
  4. Employees shall have their wages paid by direct deposit or electronic transfer into one account with a bank or other financial institution as nominated by the Employee. Wages shall be deposited by the Employer in sufficient time to ensure that wages are available for withdrawal by Employees by the close of business on payday. Where the wages are not available to the Employee by such time due to circumstances beyond the Employer’s control, the Employer shall not be held accountable for such delay.
  5. Where the services of an Employee are terminated with due notice, all moneys owing shall be paid upon cessation of employment, but in the case of termination without due notice, within 3 working days.
  6. Where the Employer has overpaid an Employee, the Employer shall notify the Employee in writing of such overpayment and how such overpayment is made up and, may recover such amounts with the agreement of the Employee as to the amount of overpayment and method of such recovery. This clause authorises the use of deductions from wages for the purpose of such recovery. All deductions from wages must be authorised in writing by the Employee.
  7. **CASUAL EMPLOYEES**
     1. The base rates of pay in the appropriate employment classification for casual employees shall be the hourly rates of pay set out in Schedule B Table 1 to this Agreement. In addition, a loading of 25% of that rate will be paid instead of the paid leave entitlements accrued by full time and part time employees.
     2. Where it is expressly stated in this Agreement that overtime and public holiday payments are to be made to casual employees, such payments shall be taken to be inclusive of casual loading referred to in this sub-clause.
     3. Other penalty payments for casual employees shall be made pursuant to Clause 18.1: Shift and Weekend Work.
     4. A casual employee will be paid shift allowances calculated on the ordinary pay excluding the casual loading with the casual loading component then added to the penalty rate of pay.
     5. Casual employees shall have an entitlement to long service leave as governed by the provisions of the Long Service Leave Act 1955 (NSW).
  8. The Employer must pay Employees according to their classification in accordance with Schedule B Table 1 – Rates of Pay.
  9. **INCREASE IN WAGE RATES and ALLOWANCES**
     1. The Base Wage for the classifications set out in this Agreement will be increased by:
        1. 3.5% or an increase equivalent to the percentage increase as determined by the FWC national minimum wage decision of 2025, whichever is the greater, on the Base Rates of Pay provided in the tables in Schedule B of this Agreement from the beginning of the first full pay period on or after 1 July 2025; and
        2. 3.25% or an increase equivalent to the percentage increase as determined by the FWC national minimum wage decision of 2026, whichever is the greater, on the Base Rates of Pay that apply to employees of this Agreement from the beginning of the first full pay period on or after 1 July 2026.
     2. The allowances set out in this Agreement shall be increased by the same percentage amount as the wage increases.
     3. Due to some classification changes made to this Agreement to align them to the relevant award(s), if an employee’s rate of pay was above the relevant rate in Table 1 for the appropriate classification, prior to the approval of this Agreement, the Employee will maintain that rate of pay and receive the increases provided by this clause.
  10. **WORK VALUE APPLICATIONS**
      1. The Parties covered by this Agreement acknowledge the decisions made by the Fair Work Commission to vary modern awards to increase the minimum wages of aged care sector workers (AM2020/99, AM2021/63, AM2021/65) (the Work Value Applications)
      2. The Employer will pay its Employees in full any increases to wages, which are determined by the Work Value Applications.
      3. The Employer will make the payment of the Work Value Applications to its employees further and in addition to:
         1. any increases to amounts payable to employees under this Agreement.
      4. For the avoidance of doubt any the payment described in this clause made to its Employees will be cost neutral to the Employer. For example, if the wage increase provided was 10% of the Award rate, that is what the Employer will pass on to its Employees, not 10% of the Agreement rates.

# CLAUSE 24 – ALLOWANCES

* 1. **TRAVEL ALLOWANCE**
     1. Travel Allowance applies when the Employer requires an Employee to travel in the following circumstances:
        1. Training away from an Employee’s Usual Place of Work; or
        2. A meeting away from an Employee’s Usual Place of Work; or
        3. Performance of work away from an Employee’s Usual Place of Work; or
        4. Home Care.
     2. An Employee who is required by the Employer to travel to attend training or a meeting away from the Employee’s “Usual Place of Work” must be paid at the ordinary rate of pay for all excess travel time, being time that is additional to the Employee’s normal travel time to and from their usual place of work and be reimbursed reasonable travel expenses.
     3. An Employee who is asked by the Employer and agrees to use their private vehicle for any of the purposes contained in clause 24.1, must be paid the Vehicle Allowance contained in Schedule B Table 4 – Allowances of the Agreement. This allowance will be revised each year in line with movements to the vehicles allowance as provided in the Aged Care Award 2010.
     4. An Employee who uses public transport for any of the purposes contained in clause 24.1, must be reimbursed actual expenses incurred for the travel.
     5. A Home Care Employee must be paid the Vehicle Allowance contained in Schedule B Table 4 – Allowances of the Agreement when their first or last client is in excess of 20 kilometres from their Home Address.
     6. A Home Care Employee who is required to use their motor vehicle on official business, must be paid at the vehicle allowance rate as set out in Schedule B Table 4 – Allowances.
     7. If a Home Care Employee is rostered to work with consecutive clients, they must be paid the applicable hourly rate for all time travelled between consecutive clients, excluding travel from the Employee’s home to the first place of work and return to home at the cessation of their duties. Time travelled/allocated will form part of the Employee’s contract hours.
  2. **SLEEPOVER ALLOWANCE**
     1. A sleepover means when an Employer requires an Employee to sleep overnight at premises where the client for whom the Employee is responsible is located.
     2. Employees working in Home and Community Care in addition to rostered hours worked, may be required to sleepover.
     3. Employees will be provided with a separate room with a bed, use of appropriate facilities, and free board and lodging for each night when the Employee sleeps over.
     4. In the event of the Employee on sleepover being required to perform work during the sleepover period, the Employee will be paid for the time worked at the ordinary rate of pay plus any applicable shift or weekend penalties with a minimum payment as for one hour worked. Where such time exceeds one hour, payment will be made at the prescribed rate for the duration of the work.
     5. The following conditions apply to each night of sleepover:
        1. The Employee is not required to sleepover if there is a risk to the Employee’s health and safety.
        2. The Employee must be paid an allowance for a sleepover in accordance with Schedule B Table 4 – Allowances to this Agreement.
        3. A sleepover must not be less than 8 hours and not more than 10 hours.
        4. An Employee required to sleep over must be rostered for a shift either immediately prior or immediately after.
  3. **ON-CALL ALLOWANCE**
     1. An Employee who, at the request of the Employer, agrees to be on call will be paid as per Schedule B Table 4 – Allowances for each period of 24 hours or part thereof.
     2. Employees who were employed at the commencement of this Agreement by Evergreen Life Care Limited, who are full time and part time Employees, who at the request of the Employer, agree to be on call during a period of 24 hours or part thereof, will be paid 2 hours ordinary pay per 24-hour period as an allowance for being on call.
  4. **IN CHARGE ALLOWANCE**
     1. An Employee who is designated to be in charge of a residential aged care facility in the absence of management, shall be paid in addition to their appropriate salary, whilst in charge, an allowance in accordance with Schedule B Table 4 - Allowances.
     2. For the purposes of clause 24.4, a facility is a standalone operation.
  5. **UNIFORM AND LAUNDRY ALLOWANCE**
     1. Where the Employer requires a uniform to be worn but does not supply it, the Uniform and Laundry Allowance will be paid in accordance with Schedule B Table 2 - Allowances.
     2. Where the uniform is provided by the Employer only the Laundry Allowance will be paid in accordance with Schedule B Table 2 - Allowances.
     3. The Uniform Allowance paid in accordance with clause 24.5 b), but not the Laundry Allowance, shall be paid during all absences on leave, except absences on Long Service Leave and absence on Personal/Carer’s Leave beyond 21 days. Where, prior to the taking of leave, an Employee was paid a Uniform Allowance, the rate to be paid during the absence on leave shall be the average of the allowance paid during the four weeks immediately preceding the taking of leave.
     4. Laundry Allowance will be paid to Employees when absent for a week or less, but not for longer periods.
     5. Where the Employer requires an Employee to wear personal protective equipment or specialised clothing is required for the work performed by an Employee, this will be provided at no cost to the Employee.
  6. **MEAL ALLOWANCE**
     1. An Employee who is required to work overtime for more than 1 hour past their ordinary finishing time and where no meal is provided by the Employer, the Employee shall be paid an amount as set out in Schedule B. - Allowances. Where such overtime work exceeds four hours a further meal allowance will be paid amount as set out in Schedule B.
     2. An Employee who is designated to be in charge of a residential aged care facility, in the absence of management, and is required to be on call during a meal break, will be paid an on-call allowance during a meal break provided by Schedule B Table 2 - Allowances. This clause applies to afternoon and night shifts, weekends, and public holidays only.
  7. **QUALIFICATIONS ALLOWANCE**
     1. An Employee will be paid a qualification allowance in two circumstances:
        1. Where the qualification is an agreed part of the Career Development Plan for the Employee as prescribed in clause 30; or
        2. Where the Employer agrees in writing with an Employee, whether new or existing, that the Employee will obtain a qualification that is required and is directly relevant to the work of the Employee and the qualification is not a base qualification.
     2. The qualifications allowance will be calculated according to:
        1. The level of the qualification; and
        2. The Employee’s base rate of pay on an hourly basis for their classification.
     3. The qualifications allowance calculations in accordance with clause 24.7, will be the following percentage of the Employee’s base rate of pay on an hourly basis:
        1. 3% for a short (3-6 month) post-trade certificate or advanced qualification.
        2. 4.0% for a post-graduate certificate.
        3. 6.0% for a post-graduate diploma.
        4. 7.5% for a Masters.
     4. The qualifications allowance will be paid:
        1. On the successful completion and award of the qualification; and
        2. Until the Employee’s classification changes.
     5. The qualification allowance will not apply if the costs associated with obtaining the qualification have been fully funded by the Employer.
     6. The Employer will pay the qualifications allowance on only one qualification unless support for an additional qualification is deemed necessary and an additional allowance is endorsed by the Employer.
  8. **FIRST AID ALLOWANCE**
     1. Evergreen will pay the cost of renewal of a valid First Aid Certificate for Employees required to maintain a valid First Aid Certificate for involvement in leisure and lifestyle activities and Home and Community Care in accordance with Schedule A – Employment Classifications.
  9. **BUDDY ALLOWANCE**
     1. An employee who acts as a buddy to students undertaking VET placements as well as new employees shall be paid the allowance as specified in Schedule B of this Agreement, based on the following requirements;
        1. The training program to train a buddy/mentor must be approved by the Employer;
        2. The employer will approve employees as buddy at relevant sites/programs.

# CLAUSE 25 – HIGHER DUTIES

25.1 If an Employee directs an Employee to carry out duties of a higher classification, the Employee must be paid the Ordinary Hourly Rate of Pay for the higher classification for the whole shift if the duration of the work is more than 2 hours.

# CLAUSE 26 – SUPERANNUATION

* 1. Evergreen will make superannuation contributions into an approved Superannuation Fund nominated by the Employee in accordance with the Superannuation Guarantee (SG) legislation as varied from time to time
  2. An ‘approved fund’ means:
     1. HESTA; or
     2. Any agreed complying superannuation fund – provided that the Employer will not unreasonably withhold agreement.
  3. An Employee will nominate one approved fund to which all statutory superannuation contributions will be paid.
  4. Should an Employee fail to nominate a fund; the Employer has determined HESTA as the default fund into which contributions will be paid under this Agreement.
  5. The superannuation contributions will be calculated on ordinary time earnings (as defined by the Australian Taxation Office). The Employer must pay SG contributions on Employer Paid Parental Leave.
  6. SALARY SACRIFICE TO SUPERANNUATION
     1. An Employee may salary sacrifice into superannuation. If an Employee chooses to salary sacrifice additional superannuation contributions into the Employee’s one nominated approved fund, the Employer must pay the amount specified by the Employee into that fund.

# CLAUSE 27 – SALARY PACKAGING

Evergreen operates a Salary Packaging System for all of its Employees. The terms and conditions of the system may make provision for a salary greater than that contained in the salary band. The package overall shall not be less favourable than the entitlements otherwise available under the Agreement on a global or overall basis and shall be subject to the following provisions:

1. The Employer will ensure that the structure of any package complies with taxation and other relevant laws;
2. The Employer will confirm in writing to the Employee the classification level and the current salary payable as applicable to the Employee under this Agreement;
3. The Employer will advise the Employee in writing of their right to choose payment of that salary referred to in clause b) above instead of a salary package;
4. The Employer will advise the Employee, in writing, that all Agreement conditions, other than the salary and those conditions as agreed in clause e) below shall continue to apply;
5. When determining the salary package, the non-salary fringe benefit shall be in accordance with relevant Australian Taxation Office legislation;
6. A copy of the agreement shall be made available to the Employee;
7. The Employee shall be entitled to inspect details of the payments made under the terms of this agreement;
8. The configuration of the salary package shall remain in force for the period agreed between the Employee and the Employer;
9. Where at the end of the agreed period the full amount allocated to a specific benefit has not been utilised, by agreement between the Employer and the Employee, an unused amount may be carried forward to the next period or paid as salary which will be subject to usual taxation requirements.
10. Salary packaging is only offered on the strict understanding and agreement that in the event existing tax law is changed regarding Fringe Benefits Tax or personal tax arrangements, and that change may impact on the Agreement,

all salary packaging arrangements may at the discretion of the Employer be terminated. Upon termination, in these circumstances, the Employee’s rate of pay will revert to the rate of pay that applied immediately prior to a salary packaging agreement made pursuant to this clause, or the appropriate Agreement rate of pay whichever is greater.

1. Where changes are proposed to salary packaging arrangements other than to flow on wage increases, or salary packaging arrangements are to be cancelled for reasons other than legislative requirements, then the Employer and/or the Employee must give 3 months’ notice of the proposed change;
2. In the event that an Employee ceases to be employed by the Employer, this agreement will cease to apply as at the date of termination and all leave entitlements due on termination shall be paid at the rates in accordance with clause b) above. Any outstanding benefit shall be paid on or before the date of termination; and
3. Any pay increases granted to Employees under this Agreement shall also apply to Employees subject to salary packaging arrangements within this clause.

# CLAUSE 28 – TRAINING

* 1. The Employer and Employees agree that Employees must have equal opportunity to access development opportunities to ensure that they are able to perform at the level of competency required for their position.
  2. The Employer is committed to effective employee training and development as the key to enhancing and improving both individual and organisational performance.
  3. Employee training and development will be provided as relevant to the Employee’s performance, role, and responsibilities.
  4. An Employee will provide the Employer with details of their attendance at training and the Employer will keep a record of this attendance.
  5. An Employee will undertake training as directed by the Employer.
  6. Where practical, training will be provided to an Employee during their normal rostered hours of work.
  7. Evergreen undertakes compulsory training to all staff during their rostered shifts and as such staff will be paid in accordance with the arrangements that are applicable for that shift. If they are unable to attend this training, then they can attend alternate compulsory training outside of their rostered shift and be paid according to Clause 15.8: Minimum Starts.
  8. Where it is not practical to provide training to an Employee during their normal rostered hours of work:
     1. an Employee will attend training outside their normal rostered working hours;
     2. the Employer will provide an Employee with 2 weeks’ notice of the requirement to attend training outside of their normal rostered working hours;
     3. in exceptional circumstances the Employer may give an Employee less than 2 weeks’ notice of the requirement to attend training outside their normal rostered working hours

Example:

Clause 28.8 (c) could apply during a lockdown due to an influenza outbreak. The Employer may need all staff to complete refresher training regarding the use of Personal Protective Equipment to manage infection control.

* 1. Attendance at training during rostered time will be paid at the ordinary rate of pay.
  2. Where attendance is required outside rostered time, attendance will be paid at the ordinary rate of pay for the hours attended.
  3. An Employee attending training that interrupts their required break between rostered shifts will be paid at the overtime rate of pay until the required break between rostered shifts is provided.

Example:

Suzie has completed a shift of 7.5 hours from 6am – 1.30pm. She is required to attend training between 1:30pm and 8:30pm. If Suzie is required to start work again at 6am the next morning, she would be paid overtime rates for that shift until she received a 10-hour break.

* 1. Where mandatory training can be completed online, the Employer will allow the Employee time to complete such training during their normal rostered hours or on mandatory training days. The Employer will provide an appropriate environment and equipment for the Employee to complete online training at work.
  2. An employee can voluntarily choose to undertake training under this Clause outside the prescribed training times and will be paid in accordance with the duration of the actual time taken to complete the training. This sub-clause applies to Employees who have reached a genuine agreement and are choosing to undertake the training in their own time.

# CLAUSE 29 – TRAINING RECORD

29.1 On termination of employment, the Employee may request a record of their attendance at training from the Employer. The Employer will provide a record of training undertaken in the previous 3 years.

# CLAUSE 30 – CAREER DEVELOPMENT

* 1. The Employer may provide Employer-Sponsored Education.
  2. An Employee attending classes relating to Employer-Sponsored Education will do so in their own time and will therefore not be paid.
  3. The Employer and an Employee will mutually agree on flexibility in rosters to allow an Employee undertaking Employer-Sponsored Education to attend classes at the relevant educational institution.
  4. An Employer and Employee may enter into a Scholarship Agreement if this is deemed appropriate.
  5. The Employer will provide an Employee undertaking an approved education qualification as part of a Scholarship Agreement with access to study and exam leave in accordance with the Scholarship Agreement.
  6. The Employer shall consider providing traineeships on an annual basis.

# CLAUSE 31 – ANNUAL LEAVE

* 1. Employees are entitled to Annual Leave in accordance with the provisions of the NES.
  2. Casual Employees have no entitlement to Annual Leave.
  3. **ACCRUAL OF ANNUAL LEAVE**
     1. All Employees, other than shift workers and Employees within clause 31.3(d) are entitled to 4 weeks paid Annual Leave for each year of service with the Employer.
     2. Shift workers, excluding shift workers within clause 31.3 d), are entitled to one additional week of Annual Leave.
     3. For the purposes of the NES, a shift worker is defined as:
        1. An Employee who is regularly rostered to work their ordinary hours outside Monday to Friday, 6am to 6pm; and/or
        2. an Employee who works for more than 4 ordinary hours on 10 or more weekends.
     4. Evergreen Life Care Limited employees who were employed at the commencement of this Agreement by Evergreen Life Care Limited, and who are full time and part time Employees, are entitled to 5 weeks paid Annual Leave or 25 days for each year of service with Evergreen Life Care Limited.
     5. The entitlement to paid Annual Leave accrues progressively for all Employees during a year of service according to the Employee's ordinary hours of work and accumulates from year to year.
  4. **PAYMENT OF ANNUAL LEAVE**
     1. If an Employee takes Annual Leave during a period, the Annual Leave will be paid at the Employee’s base rate of pay for the Employee’s ordinary hours of work in the period.
     2. An Employee going on leave may elect to be paid:
        1. Prior to commencing such leave; or
        2. Through their normal pay cycle.
     3. Once the leave has commenced, the election of how leave is to be paid cannot be changed unless the Employer agrees.
     4. If, when the employment of an Employee ends, the Employee has a period of untaken paid Annual Leave, the Employer must pay the Employee the amount that would have been payable to the Employee had the Employee taken that period of leave.
  5. **TAKING OF ANNUAL LEAVE**
     1. An Employee is entitled to take an amount of Annual Leave during a particular period if:
        1. At least that amount of Annual Leave is credited to the Employee; and;
        2. The Employer has authorised the Employee to take the Annual Leave during that period.
     2. In the taking of leave, the Employee will make a written application to the Employer, giving timely notice of the desired period of such leave.
     3. The Employer will utilise its best endeavours to respond to an application for Annual Leave made by an Employee within a two-week period. It is understood that in certain periods of peak demand such as Christmas, Easter, school holidays and long weekends, the Employer may require more notice and further time in which to approve leave requests.
     4. Annual Leave will be taken in an amount and at a time which is approved by the Employer subject to the operational requirements of the workplace. The Employer will not unreasonably withhold or revoke such approval.
     5. Shift allowances and weekend penalties are not payable for public holidays which occur during a period of Annual Leave.
     6. Annual Leave loading, if any, will be paid in accordance with clause 31.8.
  6. **EXCESSIVE ACCUMULATED ANNUAL LEAVE**
     1. An Employee must take an amount of Annual Leave during a particular period if:
        1. Reasonably directed to do so by the Employer; and
        2. At the time the direction is given, the Employee has more than 8 weeks Annual Leave credited to them or 10 weeks for a shift worker; and
        3. The amount of Annual Leave left to the Employee’s credit is at least 6 weeks.
  7. **CASHING OUT ANNUAL LEAVE**
     1. Annual Leave credited to an Employee may be cashed out by agreement, subject to the following conditions:
        1. Paid Annual Leave must not be cashed out if the cashing out would result in the Employee’s remaining accrued entitlement to paid Annual Leave being less than 4 weeks; and
        2. Each cashing out of a particular amount of paid Annual Leave must be by a separate agreement in writing between the Employer and the Employee; and
        3. The Employee must be paid at least the full amount that would have been payable to the Employee had the Employee taken the leave that the Employee has forgone.
  8. **ANNUAL LEAVE LOADING**
     1. In addition to their Annual Leave payment, an Employee will be paid the higher of:
        1. An Annual Leave Loading of 17.5% of their Annual Leave; or
        2. The weekend and shift penalties the Employee would have received had they not been on leave during the relevant period.
     2. The Annual Leave Loadings in clause 31.8 a) are not payable for days which have been added to be taken in conjunction with Annual Leave in accordance with the election provisions of clause 20.1: Public Holidays or for purchased additional leave in accordance with clause 31.11.
  9. **ANNUAL LEAVE AND SERVICE**
     1. A period of Annual Leave does not break an employee’s continuity of service and Annual Leave counts as service for all purposes.
  10. **PAYMENT OF ANNUAL LEAVE ON TERMINATION**
      1. If, when the employment of an Employee ends, the Employee has a period of untaken paid Annual Leave, the Employer must pay the Employee the amount that would have been payable to the Employee had the Employee taken that period of leave.
  11. **PURCHASED ADDITIONAL LEAVE (PAL)**
      1. The Employer may offer permanent Employees the opportunity to “purchase” an additional one week of leave each year in exchange for a proportional reduction in their salary over 12 months and within each financial year and is treated as Leave Without Pay.
      2. An Employee wishing to purchase additional leave must enter into a written agreement with the Employer which will include:
         1. An election at the beginning of each financial year (i.e., at 1 July each year);
         2. Agreement that the Employee's salary will be reduced by 1.92% for the period of the agreement; and
         3. Authority for the Employer to withhold an amount of money, from any monies owing to the Employer for PAL taken but not accrued by the final pay within the financial year or at termination.
      3. Annual Leave entitlements will be exhausted before the Employee's PAL can be accessed.
      4. All PAL must be used within each financial year (i.e., by 30 June each year). If any PAL is not used by the final pay within the financial year, or the Employee wishes to cease the arrangement, the foregone salary (if any) will be

re-credited and paid to the Employee.

* + 1. Superannuation entitlements will be calculated on the pre-reduction salary and leave loading will not apply to PAL.
  1. **PERSONAL/CARER’S LEAVE WHILE ON ANNUAL LEAVE**
     1. If an Employee becomes sick while on Annual Leave on any days that the Employee would otherwise have worked, the Employee may request that their Annual Leave is re-credited and replaced with Personal/Carer’s Leave by:
        1. As soon as reasonably practical, an Employee is to forward to the Employer a certificate from a registered health practitioner.
        2. Ensuring the certificate details the day or days the Employee was sick.
     2. Upon receipt of the certificate the appropriate adjustment to Annual Leave and Personal/Carer’s balances will be applied.

# CLAUSE 32 – LONG SERVICE LEAVE

* 1. An Employee’s entitlement to Long Service Leave will be in accordance with the provisions of this Agreement and the Long Service Leave Act 1955 (NSW) provided that should there be any inconsistency between that legislation and the provisions of this Agreement these provisions will prevail to the extent the Agreement entitles Employees to Long Service Leave in excess of the Employees’ entitlement to Long Service Leave under the Long Service Leave Act (1955) NSW.

32.2

* + 1. Each Employee will be entitled to 2 months Long Service Leave on ordinary pay after ten years’ service; thereafter additional Long Service Leave will accrue on the basis of 5 months Long Service Leave for each 10 years'

service. This additional leave may be taken on a pro-rata basis each 5 years after completing the initial 10-year period of service.

* + 1. Where the services of an Employee with at least 5 years' service are terminated by the Employer for any reason other than the Employee's serious and wilful misconduct, or by the Employee on account of illness, incapacity or domestic or other pressing necessity, or by reason of the death of the Employee, they will be entitled to be paid a proportionate amount on the basis of 2 months for 10 years’ service.
  1. For the purpose of clause 32.2, service:
     1. Means continuous service: and,
     2. Includes half the period of Long Service Leave taken where an Employee elects to take Long Service Leave at half pay in accordance with clause 32.7.
     3. The Employer will give to each Employee at least one months’ notice of the date from which it is proposed that the Employee’s Long Service Leave will be given and taken. Long Service Leave will be taken as soon as practicable having regard to the needs of the workplace, or where the Employer and the Employee agree, such leave may be postponed to an agreed date.
     4. Where the Employer and the Employee agree in writing that the taking of a period of leave is postponed at the request of an Employee to an agreed future date, the period of leave at the time of the Agreement being made will, when taken, be paid at the rate applicable at the time of the Agreement.
        1. On the termination of employment of an Employee, otherwise than by their death, an Employer will pay to the Employee the monetary value of all Long Service Leave accrued and not taken at the date of such termination and such monetary value will be determined according to the salary payable to the Employee at the date of such termination.
     5. Where an Employee who has acquired a right to Long Service Leave, or after having had 5 years' service and less than 10 years' service dies, the Employees personal representative will, upon request, be entitled to receive the monetary value of the leave not taken or which would have accrued to such Employee had their services terminated as referred to in clause 32.2(b)

and such monetary value will be determined according to the salary payable to the Employee at the time of their death.

* 1. Where an Employee has been granted a period of Long Service Leave prior to the coming into force of the Agreement, the amount of such leave will be debited against the amount of leave due under this Agreement.
  2. Employees of the Employer previously covered by Long Service Leave provisions or arrangements contained in industrial instruments or State legislation will have their Long Service Leave accrued entitlement carried over but the accrual and access to Long Service Leave entitlements from the date of transfer will be in accordance with this Agreement.
  3. With the agreement of the Employer, an Employee may take Long Service Leave on half the ordinary pay thereby increasing the period of paid leave which can be taken. For example, an Employee who is eligible for 13 weeks paid Long Service Leave can take 26 weeks paid Long Service Leave at half their ordinary pay.
  4. During a period of Long Service Leave on half the ordinary pay, accrual of Annual Leave and Personal/Carer’s Leave will be on the basis of half the ordinary hours of work.

# CLAUSE 33 – PERSONAL/CARER’S AND COMPASSIONATE LEAVE

* 1. **ENTITLEMENT TO PAID PERSONAL/CARER’S LEAVE**
     1. For each year of service with their employer, an Employee is entitled to 10 days of paid Personal/Carer’s Leave.
     2. An Employee's entitlement to paid Personal/Carer’s Leave accrues progressively during a year of service according to the Employee's ordinary hours of work and accumulates from year to year.
  2. **TAKING OF PERSONAL/CARER’S LEAVE**

An Employee may take Personal/Carer’s Leave:

* + 1. Where the Employee is not fit for work because of a personal illness, or personal injury, affecting the Employee; or
    2. To provide care or support to a member of the Employee’s immediate family, or a member of the Employee’s household, who requires care or support

because of a personal illness, or personal injury, affecting the member, or an unexpected emergency affecting the member.

* 1. The Employer recognises that an Employee who is personally affected by the illness or death of a pet may access Personal/Carer’s Leave.
  2. Personal/Carer’s Leave is paid at the Employee’s base rate of pay for the Employee’s ordinary hours of work in the period.
  3. Employees who are absent from work for more than 2 days for Personal/ Carers Leave are required to provide:
     1. A Medical Certificate from a Registered Health Practitioner or a Statutory Declaration in accordance with the NES; or,
     2. Where the Personal/Carer’s Leave relating to a pet as outlined in clause 33.3, a certificate or letter from a Veterinarian, Specialist or Hospital registered with the Veterinary Practitioners Board of New South Wales.
  4. To minimise the impact of Personal/Carer’s Leave on the Employer and its clients, Employees are required to take all reasonable steps to inform their Supervisor of their inability to attend work including, for Carer’s Leave, the details of the name and relationship of the person for whom they are required to provide care. If possible, this notification should include an estimate of the duration of the absence.
  5. **PERSONAL/CARER’S LEAVE ON PUBLIC HOLIDAYS**

If the period during which an Employee takes paid Personal/Carer’s Leave includes a day or part-day that is a public holiday in the place where the Employee is based for work purposes, the Employee is taken not to be on paid Personal/Carer’s Leave on that public holiday.

* 1. **UNPAID CARER’S LEAVE**
     1. An Employee is entitled to 2 days of Unpaid Carer’s Leave for each occasion when a member of the Employee’s immediate family or a member of the Employee’s household requires care of support because of:
        1. A personal illness, or personal injury, affecting the member; or
        2. An unexpected emergency affecting the member.
     2. An Employee may take Unpaid Carer’s Leave as:
        1. A single continuous period of up to 2 days; or
        2. Any separate periods agreed with the Employer.
     3. An Employee is entitled to unpaid Carer’s Leave for a particular occasion only if the Employee cannot take an amount of paid Personal/Carer’s Leave.
  2. Nothing in clause 33.5 restricts the Employer from requiring a Medical Certificate from a Registered Health Practitioner, or for Personal/Carer’s Leave relating to a pet, a letter from a Veterinarian, Specialist or Hospital registered with the Veterinary Practitioners Board of New South Wales, to support Personal/Carer’s Leave where it has become apparent that a pattern of absence is occurring or when the Employer has a concern about the Employee’s fitness to perform the inherent requirements of the role.
  3. **CONTINUITY OF SERVICE**
     1. A period of paid Personal/Carer’s Leave does not break an Employee’s continuity of service and counts as service for all purposes.
     2. A period of unpaid Personal/Carer’s Leave does not break an Employee’s continuity of service but does not count as service.

# CLAUSE 34 – FAMILY AND DOMESTIC VIOLENCE LEAVE

* 1. The parties to this Agreement acknowledge that family violence is a serious issue in our community and is likely to affect a number of staff at any time. The Employer is committed to the safety of staff and residents and seeks to develop a supportive workplace in which victims of family violence can come forward for help and support on a confidential basis.
  2. Family and domestic violence is conduct that is violent, threatening, coercive, controlling or intended to cause the family or household member to be fearful.
  3. Proof of family violence may be required by the Employer and can be in the form of an agreed document issued by the Police Service, a Court, a doctor, district nurse, maternal and health care nurse or a Family Violence Support Service or Lawyer. A signed statutory declaration can also be offered as proof as agreed with the Employer.
  4. All personal information concerning family violence will be kept confidential in line with the relevant legislation. The Employer will develop a Family Violence policy within the first year of the Agreement.
  5. An Employee experiencing family violence may raise the issue with a nominated an Employer representative.
  6. The Employer will allow permanent Employees who are victims of family violence and need time off work for medical or legal assistance, court appearances, counselling, relocation, or to make other safety arrangements with 20 days paid leave and the flexibility to use their accrued Personal/Carer’s Leave for such purposes.
  7. Where an Employee has or is likely to exhaust their personal leave accrual, the Employer may provide further special leave on a case-by-case basis.

# CLAUSE 35 – COMPASSIONATE LEAVE

* 1. Where an Employee has or is likely to exhaust their personal leave accrual, the Employer may provide further special leave on a case-by-case basis.
     1. An Employee is entitled to 3 days of Compassionate Leave for each occasion when a member of the Employee's immediate family, or a member of the Employee's household:
        1. Contracts or develops a personal illness that poses a serious threat to their life; or
        2. Sustains a personal injury that poses a serious threat to their life; or
        3. Dies; or
        4. Where the pregnancy of an employee terminates other than by the birth of a living child, not earlier than 28 weeks before the expected date of birth
     2. An Employee may take Compassionate Leave as:
        1. A single continuous period of 3 days: or
        2. 3 separate periods of 1 day each; or
        3. Any separate periods agreed with the Employer.
  2. **PAYMENT FOR COMPASSIONATE LEAVE**
     1. If an Employee takes a period of paid Compassionate Leave, the Employer must pay the Employee, other than a casual Employee, at the Employee’s base rate of pay for the Employee’s ordinary hours of work in the period.
     2. Casual Employees are entitled to unpaid Compassionate Leave.
  3. **NOTICE AND EVIDENCE REQUIREMENTS FOR COMPASSIONATE LEAVE**
     1. To be entitled to Compassionate Leave during the period, the Employee may be required to give the Employer as soon as reasonably practical (which may be at a time before or after the Compassionate Leave has started):
        1. A medical certificate from a medical practitioner stating that in their opinion the member is suffering from an illness or injury that poses a serious threat to the member’s life; or
        2. A statutory declaration made by the Employee stating that the Employee requires or required leave during the period due to the death of the member.
  4. **PROVISIONS APPLICABLE TO COMPASSIONATE LEAVE**
     1. Compassionate Leave recognises the need to assist Employees in coping with the personal hardship issues associated with the death or serious illness of an Employee’s immediate family member.
     2. The provision of additional unpaid Compassionate Leave will be at the discretion of the Employer.
  5. **CONTINUITY OF SERVICE**
     1. A period of paid Compassionate Leave does not break an Employee’s continuity of service and counts as service for all purposes.
     2. A period of unpaid Compassionate Leave as per clause 35.1, does not break an Employee’s continuity of service but does not count as service.

# CLAUSE 36 – NATURAL DISASTER LEAVE

* 1. Where a permanent Employee is unable to attend work because of a natural disaster, i.e., bushfire or flood, they will be entitled to be paid ordinary pay for the shift they would otherwise worked on that day. This entitlement will apply once per calendar year and is not cumulative from year to year.
  2. The Employer may require the Employee to provide evidence to support their claim.

# CLAUSE 37 – EMPLOYER PAID PARENTAL LEAVE

Employees are entitled to Parental Leave in accordance with the provisions of the NES.

* 1. **EMPLOYER PAID PARENTAL LEAVE**
     1. Employer Paid Parental Leave is in addition to the Australian Government Paid Parental Leave Scheme as varied from time to time.
     2. Full time and part time Employees may claim Employer Paid Parental Leave at ordinary pay, from the date the Parental Leave commences in the following circumstances:
        1. First claim: where eligible for unpaid Parental Leave; and
        2. Second and subsequent claims: where an Employee having returned to work from a period of Parental Leave has completed 3 months of continuous service prior to each claim.
     3. For the purposes of the calculation of “ordinary pay” for Paid Parental Leave purposes, an Employee will be paid the higher of:
        1. The average of the ordinary hours actually worked by the Employee in the 12-month period ending at the commencement of Parental Leave; or
        2. The ordinary hours worked by the Employee at the time of the commencement of Parental Leave.
     4. Employer Paid Parental Leave includes:
        1. 9 weeks (or 18 weeks at half pay) paid maternity leave for the birth mother;
        2. 9 weeks (or 18 weeks at half pay) paid adoption leave for the initial primary carer of the adopted child; and
        3. 2 weeks paid partner leave.
     5. Paid Partner leave will be payable to:
        1. The father; or
        2. Partner of the birth mother; or
        3. Partner of the initial primary carer of an adopted child.
     6. Partner includes same-sex and de facto partner or former de facto partner.
     7. Any period of “Paid no safe job leave” taken by an Employee pursuant to the “Transfer to a Safe Job” provisions of the Act will be deducted from the Employee’s entitlement to paid maternity leave.

# CLAUSE 38 – COMMUNITY SERVICE LEAVE

* 1. Employees are entitled to Community Service Leave in accordance with the provisions of the NES.
  2. Eligible community service activities:
     1. Entitle an Employee, acting reasonably, to be absent from employment for periods including:
        1. Time when the Employee engages in the activity;
        2. Reasonable travelling time associated with the activity;
        3. Reasonable rest time immediately following the activity.
     2. Includes:
        1. Jury service (including attendance for jury selection) that is required by or under a law of the Commonwealth, a State or a Territory; or
        2. A voluntary emergency management activity; or
        3. An activity prescribed in regulations made for the purpose of Section 109(4) of the Act.
  3. **JURY SERVICE**
     1. There is no limit on the amount of unpaid Jury Service Leave an Employee can take in a 12-month period of employment.
     2. Employees, other than casuals, are entitled to be paid:
        1. For the first 10 days when absent from work in one or more periods to attend jury service for a jury service summons.
        2. The difference between what the Employee received as jury service pay and the base rate of pay for the Employee’s ordinary hours of work in the period or periods.
     3. Where the duration of jury service for a jury service summons exceeds 10 days, the Employer agrees to assist the Employee as far as is reasonably practical to maintain their regular income. The assistance may include flexibility of rosters; access to Annual Leave and/or Long Service Leave.
     4. The Employer may require the Employee to provide evidence that would satisfy a reasonable person:
        1. That the Employee took all necessary steps to obtain any amount of jury service pay to which they were entitled; and
        2. Of the total amount of jury service pay, paid or payable to the Employee.
     5. No payment is required where evidence is required by the Employer and not provided by the Employee.
  4. **VOLUNTARY EMERGENCY MANAGEMENT ACTIVITY (VEMA)**
     1. An Employee engages in a VEMA if:
        1. They voluntarily participate;
        2. The activity involves dealing with an emergency or natural disaster;
        3. They are a member of, or have a member like association with a Recognised Emergency Management Body (REMB); and
        4. The REMB requests their participation.

# CLAUSE 39 – CEREMONIAL LEAVE

An Employee who is legitimately required by Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander tradition to be absent from work for Aboriginal ceremonial purposes will be entitled to up to 10 working days’ unpaid leave in any one year, with the approval of the Employer.

# CLAUSE 40 – EDUCATION LEAVE

The Employer will facilitate access to professional development opportunities by allowing flexibility of rostering and applications for leave. Where such professional development is reasonable, approval will be subject to the operational needs of the facility.

# CLAUSE 41 – LEAVE WITHOUT PAY

* 1. By agreement between the Employer and a permanent Employee, an Employee may be granted a period of Leave Without Pay. There is no automatic entitlement to take Leave Without Pay.
  2. Leave Without Pay will not be available if the Employee has paid leave entitlements available to take. All paid leave entitlements must be exhausted before a period of Leave Without Pay will be granted.
  3. The period of Leave Without Pay will not break the continuity of service of the Employee but will not count for the purpose of:
     1. Accruing Annual Leave or Personal/Carer’s Leave;
     2. Accruing Long Service Leave;
     3. The qualifying period for paid and unpaid Parental Leave; and
     4. The calculation of service for notice and severance pay in accordance with Clause 51: Termination of Employment, and Clause 52: Redundancy.
  4. **APPLYING FOR LEAVE WITHOUT PAY**
     1. Employees may only apply for a period of Leave Without Pay if they have 12 months’ service with the Employer.
     2. Application must be made to the Employer in writing and subject to the Employee satisfying the conditions outlined in clause 41.2.

# CLAUSE 42 – REPATRIATION LEAVE

* 1. Employees who are ex-servicemen or ex-service women may be granted special leave in one or more periods up to a maximum of 6½ working days in any period of 12 months without deduction from Annual or Personal/Carer’s Leave credits for the following purposes in connection with an accepted war-caused disability or in connection with an application to the Repatriation Department for a disability to be so accepted:
     1. To attend a hospital or clinic or visit a medical officer in that regard;
     2. To attend a hospital, clinic, or medical officer or to report for periodical examination or attention;
     3. To attend the supply, renewal and repair of artificial replacements and surgical appliances.
  2. Employees are to provide the Employer with documentary evidence as to the attendance prior to the payment of special leave being granted.

# CLAUSE 43 – CONSULTATION AND CHANGE

* 1. This term applies if the Employer:
     1. Has made a decision to introduce a major change to a program, organisation, structure, or technology that is likely to have a significant effect on the Employees; or
     2. Proposes to introduce a change to the regular roster or ordinary hours of work of Employees.
  2. For a major change referred to in clause 43.1 a):
     1. The Employer must notify the relevant Employees and their representatives of the decision to introduce the major change; and
     2. Clauses 43.3 to 43.8 apply.
  3. The relevant Employees may appoint a representative for the purposes of the procedures in this term. If:
     1. A relevant Employee appoints, or relevant Employees appoint, a representative for the purposes of consultation; and
     2. The Employee or Employees advise the Employer of the identity of the representative; the Employer must recognise the representative.
  4. As soon as practicable after making its decision, the Employer must:
     1. Discuss with the relevant Employees:
        1. The introduction of the change; and
        2. The effect the change is likely to have on the Employees; and
        3. Measures the Employer is taking to avert or mitigate the adverse effect of the change on the Employees; and
     2. For the purposes of the discussion – provide, in writing, to the relevant Employees:
        1. All relevant information about the change including the nature of the change proposed; and
        2. Information about the expected effects of the change on the Employees; and
        3. Any other matters likely to affect the Employees.
  5. However, the Employer is not required to disclose confidential or commercially sensitive information to the relevant Employees.
  6. The Employer must give prompt and genuine consideration to matters raised about the major change by the relevant Employees.
  7. If a term in the Agreement provides for a major change to a program, organisation, structure, or technology in relation to the Employer, the requirements set out in clause 43.2a) and clauses 43.3 and 43.5 are taken not to apply.
  8. In this term, a major change is likely to have a significant effect on Employees if it results in:
     1. The termination of the employment of Employees; or
     2. Major change to the composition, operation, or size of the Employer’s workforce or to the skills required of Employees; or
     3. The elimination or diminution of job opportunities (including opportunities for promotion or tenure); or
     4. The alteration of hours of work; or
     5. The need to retrain Employees; or
     6. The need to relocate Employees to another workplace; or
     7. The restructuring of jobs.
  9. **CHANGE TO REGULAR ROSTER OR ORDINARY HOURS OF WORK**

In this clause relevant Employees means the Employees who may be affected by a change referred to in clause 43.1:

* + 1. The employer must notify the relevant employees of the proposed change, and sub-clause 43.11 applies;
    2. The relevant employees may appoint a representative for the purposes of the procedures in this term;
    3. If a relevant employee appoints, or relevant employees appoint, a representative for the purposes of the consultation; and
    4. The employee or employees advise the employer of the identity of the representative;
    5. The employer must recognise the representative.
  1. As soon as practicable after proposing to introduce the change, the employer must:
     1. Discuss with the relevant employees the introduction of the change; and
     2. For the purposes of the discussion, provide to the relevant employees:
        1. All relevant information about the change, including the nature of the change; and
        2. Information about what the employer reasonably believes will be the effects of the change on the employees; and
        3. Information about any other matters that the employer reasonably believes are likely to affect the employees; and
     3. invite the relevant employees to give their views about the impact of the change (including any impact in relation to their family or caring responsibilities).
  2. However, the employer is not required to disclose confidential or commercially sensitive information to the relevant employees.
  3. The employer must give prompt and genuine consideration to matters raised about the change by the relevant employees.
  4. In this term: “relevant employees” means the employees who may be affected by a change referred to in subclause 43.1.

# CLAUSE 44 – REQUEST FOR FLEXIBLE WORKING ARRANGEMENTS

* 1. Employees are entitled to request flexible employment arrangements in accordance with the provisions of the NES.
  2. Employees can request flexible working arrangements if they:
     1. Are the parent, or have responsibility for the care, of a child who is school-aged or younger;
     2. Are a carer (under the Carer Recognition Act 2010 (Cth));
     3. Have a disability;
     4. Are 55 years of age or older;
     5. Are experiencing family or domestic violence, or;
     6. Provide care or support to a member of their household or immediate family who requires care and support because of family or domestic violence.
  3. The Employee is not entitled to make the request unless:
     1. For an Employee other than a casual Employee – the Employee has completed at least 12 months of continuous service with the Employer immediately before making the request; and
     2. For a casual Employee – the Employee:
        1. Is a long-term casual Employee of the Employer immediately before making the request; and
        2. Has a reasonable expectation of continuing employment by the Employer on a regular and systematic basis.
  4. The request must:
     1. Be in writing; and
     2. Set out details of the change sought and of the reasons for the change.
  5. The Employer must give the Employee a written response to the request within 21 days, stating whether the Employer grants or refuses the request.

# CLAUSE 45 – WORKLOAD MANAGEMENT

* 1. The parties to the Agreement acknowledge that Employees and the Employer have a responsibility to maintain a balanced workload and recognise the adverse effects that excessive workloads may have on Employee/s and the quality of resident/client care.
  2. To ensure that Employee concerns involving excessive workloads are effectively dealt with by The Employer, the following procedures should be applied:
     1. In the first instance, Employee/s should discuss the issue with their immediate supervisor and, where appropriate, explore solutions.
     2. If a solution cannot be identified and implemented, the matter should be referred to an appropriate senior manager for further discussion.
     3. If a solution still cannot be identified and implemented, the matter should, where possible, be referred to the Facility Manager or Home Care Manager for further discussion.
     4. The outcome of the discussions at each level and any proposed solutions should be recorded in writing and fed back to the affected Employees.
     5. At each of the steps above the parties should aim to agree on a reasonable time frame for response.
  3. Workload management must be an agenda item at meetings of Employees on at least a quarterly basis. Items in relation to workloads must be recorded in the minutes of the meeting, as well as actions to be taken to resolve the workloads issue/s. Resolution of workload issues should be based on the following criteria including but not limited to:
     1. Clinical assessment of residents’ needs;
     2. The demand of the environment such as facility layout;
     3. Statutory obligation (including, but not limited to, workplace health and safety legislation);
     4. The requirements of nurse regulatory legislation;
     5. Reasonable workloads;
     6. Accreditation standards;
     7. Replacement of Employees on leave; and
     8. Budgetary considerations.
  4. If the issue is still unresolved, the Employee/s may advance the matter through Clause 50: Dispute Resolution Procedure.

# CLAUSE 46 – UNION NOTICE BOARD

The Employer will make available a Union Notice Board in the work location that is accessible to Employees, for the purpose of local Employee Union delegates or approved contacts, or Union Organisers or other Union staff (subject to right of entry requirements), posting information relating to the observance, application, and operation of the Agreement and in relation to union events or meetings.

# CLAUSE 47 – UNION REPRESENTATIVE LEAVE

* 1. A union representative who has been nominated by other Employees as the site union representative for unions represented in the Agreement will be able to access leave to attend trade union delegate courses, seminars, and conferences for a maximum of up to 5 days leave per calendar year.
  2. A union representative may access Annual Leave, Long Service Leave or Leave Without Pay for union representative activities leave.
  3. A union representative must apply to their Employer for approval of union activities leave with 4 weeks’ notice.
  4. The Employer will not unreasonably withhold their approval for this leave.

# CLAUSE 48 – BULLYING AND HARASSMENT

* 1. Parties to the Agreement acknowledge a shared commitment to the provision of a safe, flexible, and respectful workplace, free from all forms of bullying and harassment, where everyone is required to treat each other with dignity, courtesy and respect.
  2. In achieving this objective, the Employer will have in place a Bullying & Harassment Policy and Procedure that aligns with relevant legislation and ensure that everyone complies with its terms and conditions.

# CLAUSE 49 – DISCIPLINARY MATTERS

* 1. In all dealings with Employees, which may lead to a disciplinary outcome, including termination, the Employer must follow the principles of procedural fairness and natural justice.
  2. Procedural fairness and natural justice include:
     1. Any allegation concerning conduct or concern about performance being communicated to the Employee and the Employee being given a reasonable opportunity to respond; and
     2. An Employee being given the opportunity for a support person, such as a Union representative, to accompany them to any meeting the Employee is required to attend; and
     3. Any findings, warnings or sanctions determined by the Employer must be in writing.
  3. An Employee required to attend a disciplinary meeting will be entitled to ordinary pay for the duration of the meeting.

# CLAUSE 50 – DISPUTE RESOLUTION PROCEDURE

* 1. This dispute resolution procedure will apply to disputes about:
     1. Any matters arising in the employment relationship, except matters relating to the actual termination of employment of an Employee;
     2. Threatened termination, with the exception that the arbitration provisions in clause 50.7 do not apply unless the parties agree. Further, the parties’ rights are preserved during this process and the Employer may exercise their right to terminate the Employee in accordance with the Agreement;
     3. Matters in relation to the NES;
     4. Matters arising under the Agreement; and,
     5. Whether an Employer had reasonable business grounds under sub-section 65(5) of the Act - (requests for flexible working arrangements) or 76(4) of the Act - (requests for extending unpaid Parental Leave).
  2. An Employer or Employee may appoint another person or the Union to accompany and/or represent them for the purposes of this clause.
  3. In the first instance, the parties must attempt to resolve the matter at the workplace by discussions between the Employee or Employees concerned and the relevant supervisor.
  4. If such discussions do not resolve the dispute, the parties will endeavour to resolve the dispute in a timely manner by discussions between the Employee or Employees concerned and more senior levels of management as appropriate.
  5. If a dispute is unable to be resolved at the workplace, and all appropriate steps under this clause have been taken, a party to the dispute may refer the dispute to FWC.
  6. Where the matter in dispute remains unresolved, FWC may exercise any method of dispute resolution permitted by the Act that it considers appropriate to ensure the settlement of the dispute.
  7. The parties agree that FWC will have the power to do all such things as are necessary for the just resolution of the dispute including mediation, conciliation, and arbitration.
  8. While the dispute resolution procedure is being conducted, the status quo must remain, and work must continue in accordance with the Agreement and the Act. Subject to applicable work health and safety legislation, an Employee must not unreasonably fail to comply with a direction by the Employer to perform work, whether at the same or another workplace that is safe and appropriate for the Employee to perform.

# CLAUSE 51 – TERMINATION OF EMPLOYMENT

* 1. The Employer is committed to ensuring that Employees have clarity with respect to their responsibilities and rights with regard to Employee separation.
  2. An Employee may resign from their employment with the Employer by giving notice in writing in accordance with clause 51.9, except that there is no requirement for an Employee to give additional notice based on their age. If the required notice is not

given by the Employee, then the Employer has the right to deduct any outstanding notice in accordance with the contract of employment.

* 1. When an Employee resigns, they may request the Employer to provide:
     1. An acknowledgement of the resignation by the Employer by a representative of the Employer signing a copy of the written resignation; and
     2. A Statement of Service which would include details of the length of service and work performed.
  2. Once notice has been given and accepted; it can only be withdrawn with the consent of the Employer. If the consent is not given, the notice will stand, and the Employee’s separation will take place on the expiry of the notice period.
  3. If the Employer gives the Employee notice of termination, the Employer may elect to allow the Employee to work out the notice period or pay the Employee salary in lieu of notice and terminate the employment immediately.
  4. Where the Employer has given notice of termination to an Employee, the Employee must be allowed time off without loss of pay of up to one day for the purpose of seeking other employment.
  5. The time off under clause 51.6 is to be taken at times that are convenient to the Employee after consultation with the Employer.
  6. Except in the case of casual and probationary Employees, if the Employer terminates an Employee the required period of notice, as specified below, must be given.
  7. Nothing in the Agreement affects the Employer’s right to dismiss Employees without notice for serious misconduct and, if so dismissed, the Employer will only be required to pay the Employee for the time worked up to the time of dismissal and any entitlements accrued.
  8. Employees who are terminated whilst they are within their qualifying period of employment will be entitled to one week’s notice of termination.
  9. Notice of termination by either the Employer or the Employee will be:

|  |  |
| --- | --- |
| **Period of Continuous Service** | **Minimum Period of Notice** |
| 1 year or less | 1 week |
| More than 1 year but not more than 3 years | 2 weeks’ |
| More than 3 years but not more than 5 years | 3 weeks’ |
| More than 5 years | 4 weeks’ |

* 1. Employees who are 45 years or over and have completed at least two years of continuous service will be entitled to receive one additional weeks’ notice.
  2. Where both the Employer and the Employee agree to terminate the contract and waive any notice requirements in the contract, i.e., the Employee may indicate that they want to leave immediately and the Employer considers it appropriate for this to occur, neither party is obliged to make payment in lieu of notice.
  3. An Employee may terminate employment whilst on leave, provided the notice of resignation is provided in writing with the appropriate notice period.
  4. If an Employee requested their pay in advance of proceeding on Annual Leave, and has received such payment, the appropriate calculation would be incorporated in their termination pay.
  5. An Employee may be dismissed for unsatisfactory work performance or inappropriate behaviour provided that appropriate performance management measures have been carried out.
  6. Where the Employer is satisfied after proper investigation and disciplinary action that an Employee has engaged in serious misconduct or committed a criminal offence in the workplace, the Employer may dismiss the Employee without notice, with payment of wages up to the time of dismissal only.
  7. The Employer will at times be faced with the problem of an Employee leaving their employment without notice. In that case, the Employer must ascertain whether the Employee has abandoned their employment or is unable, because of some pressing matter, to communicate the reason for the absence from work.
  8. When an Employee refuses to return to work and the Employer has not approved such continuing absence, then the Employee will also be deemed to have abandoned their employment with the Employer.

# CLAUSE 52 - REDUNDANCY

* 1. Redundancy occurs when the Employer decides that they no longer wish the job the Employee had been doing to be done by anyone, and this is not due to the ordinary

and customary turnover of labour. This may happen due to changes in the Employer’s operational requirements or removal of the Employer’s funding arrangements that were intrinsically linked to an Employee’s ongoing employment with the Employer. The Employer recognises its responsibility to its Employees in this regard and sees the application of these redundancy provisions as being “a last resort” only.

* 1. The Employer will take all reasonable steps to find the redundant Employee an alternate position within the Employer within their skill and competence. A redundant employee is entitled to redundancy pay as in clause 51.4 unless the FWC determines under s120(1) of the Act that a reduced amount applies.
  2. Where the Employee has 5 years or more service the Employer will provide outplacement services to assist the Employee to find another job.
  3. Where an Employee is made redundant, in addition to the Employer providing the relevant notice of termination, an Employee will also be entitled to the following amount of severance pay in respect of a continuous period of service:
     1. Where the Employee is under 45 years of age, the Employer will pay the Employee in accordance with the following scale:

|  |  |
| --- | --- |
| **Minimum Years of Service** | **Redundancy Pay** |
| Less than 1 year | Nil |
| 1 year and less than 2 years | 4 weeks’ pay |
| 2 years and less than 3 years | 7 weeks’ pay |
| 3 years and less than 4 years | 10 weeks’ pay |
| 4 years and less than 5 years | 12 weeks’ pay |
| 5 years and less than 6 years | 14 weeks’ pay |
| 6 years and over | 16 weeks’ pay. |

* + 1. Where the Employee is 45 years of age or over, the Employer will pay the Employee in accordance with the following scale:

**Redundancy Pay**

**Minimum Years of Service**

|  |  |
| --- | --- |
| Less than 1 year | Nil |
| 1 year and less than 2 years | 5 weeks’ pay |
| 2 years and less than 3 years | 8.75 weeks’ pay |
| 3 years and less than 4 years | 12.5 weeks’ pay |
| 4 years and less than 5 years | 15 weeks’ pay |
| 5 years and less than 6 years | 17.5 weeks’ pay |
| 6 years and over | 20 weeks’ pay. |

* + 1. Weeks’ pay means the rate of pay for the Employee concerned at the date of termination, and shall include in addition to the ordinary pay any

over-agreement payments and the following, if applicable:

* + - 1. Shift and weekend penalties as prescribed in Clause 18.1: Shift and Weekend Work;
      2. Broken shift allowance as prescribed in Clause 19.1: Broken shifts;
      3. Sleepover allowance as prescribed in Clause 24.2: Sleepovers.

# SCHEDULE A – EMPLOYMENT CLASSIFICATIONS

This Schedule contains the following employment classifications and definitions:

1. GENERAL EMPLOYMENT CLASSIFICATIONS
2. NURSES’ EMPLOYMENT CLASSIFICATIONS

GENERAL EMPLOYMENT CLASSIFICATIONS

The following employment classifications and definitions apply to this Agreement:

CARE SERVICE EMPLOYEES

The following employment classifications and definitions apply to this Agreement a higher rate applies for aged care Employee—general—levels 4 to 7 if that Employee is the single most senior food services Employee engaged by the Employer at the facility or site and these are rates are provided at Table 1 Rates of Pay.

**CARE SERVICE EMPLOYEES**

**Aged Care Employee General Level 1:**

**Entry level:**

An employee who has less than three months’ work experience in the industry and performs basic duties.

An employee at this level:

* works within established routines, methods and procedures;
* has minimal responsibility, accountability or discretion;
* works under direct or routine supervision, either individually or in a team; and
* requires no previous experience or training.

Indicative tasks performed at this level are:

| **General and administrative services** |  | **Food services** |
| --- | --- | --- |
| General clerk  Laundry hand  Cleaner  Assistant gardener |  | Food services assistant |

**Aged Care Employee General Level 2:**

An employee at this level:

* is capable of prioritising work within established routines, methods and procedures;
* is responsible for work performed with a limited level of accountability or discretion;
* works under limited supervision, either individually or in a team;
* possesses sound communication skills; and
* requires specific on-the-job training and/or relevant skills training or experience.

Indicative tasks performed at this level are:

| **General and administrative services** | **Food services** |
| --- | --- |
| General clerk/Typist (between 3 months’ and less than 1 year’s service)  Laundry hand  Cleaner  Gardener (non-trade)  Maintenance/Handyperson (unqualified)  Driver (less than 3 ton) | Food services assistant |

**Aged Care Employee General Level 3:**

An employee at this level:

* is capable of prioritising work within established routines, methods and procedures (non admin/clerical);
* is responsible for work performed with a medium level of accountability or discretion (non admin/clerical);
* works under limited supervision, either individually or in a team (non admin/clerical);
* possesses sound communication and/or arithmetic skills (non admin/clerical);
* requires specific on-the-job training and/or relevant skills training or experience (non admin/clerical); and
* In the case of an admin/clerical employee, undertakes a range of basic clerical functions within established routines, methods and procedures.

Indicative tasks performed at this level are:

| **General and administrative services** | **Food services** |
| --- | --- |
| General clerk/Typist (second and subsequent years of service)  Receptionist  Pay clerk  Driver (less than 3 ton) who is required to hold a St John Ambulance first aid certificate | Cook |

**Aged Care Employee General Level 4:**

An employee at this level:

* is capable of prioritising work within established policies, guidelines and procedures;
* is responsible for work performed with a medium level of accountability or discretion;
* works under limited supervision, either individually or in a team;
* possesses good communication, interpersonal and/or arithmetic skills; and
* requires specific on-the-job training, may require formal qualifications and/or relevant skills training or experience.

Indicative tasks performed at this level are:

| **General and administrative services** | **Food services** |
| --- | --- |
| Senior clerk  Senior receptionist  Maintenance/Handyperson (qualified)  Driver (3 ton and over)  Gardener (trade or TAFE Certificate III or above) | Senior cook (trade) |

**Aged Care Employee General Level 5:**

An employee at this level:

* is capable of functioning semi-autonomously, and prioritising their own work within established policies, guidelines and procedures;
* is responsible for work performed with a substantial level of accountability;
* works either individually or in a team;
* may assist with supervision of others;
* requires a comprehensive knowledge of medical terminology and/or a working knowledge of health insurance schemes (admin/clerical);
* may require basic computer knowledge or be required to use a computer on a regular basis;
* possesses administrative skills and problem solving abilities;
* possesses well developed communication, interpersonal and/or arithmetic skills; and
* requires substantial on-the-job training, may require formal qualifications at trade or certificate level and/or relevant skills training or experience.

Indicative tasks performed at this level are:

| **General and administrative services** | **Food services** |
| --- | --- |
| Secretary interpreter (unqualified) | Chef |

**Aged Care Employee – General Level 6:**

An employee at this level:

* is capable of functioning with a high level of autonomy, and prioritising their work within established policies, guidelines and procedures;
* is responsible for work performed with a substantial level of accountability and responsibility;
* works either individually or in a team;
* may require comprehensive computer knowledge or be required to use a computer on a regular basis;
* possesses administrative skills and problem solving abilities;
* possesses well developed communication, interpersonal and/or arithmetic skills; and
* may require formal qualifications at post-trade or Advanced Certificate or Associate Diploma level and/or relevant skills training or experience.

Indicative tasks performed at this level are:

|  |  |
| --- | --- |
| **General and administrative services** | **Food services** |
| Maintenance tradesperson (advanced)  Gardener (advanced) | Senior chef |

**Aged Care Employee – General Level 7:**

An employee at this level:

* is capable of functioning autonomously, and prioritising their work and the work of others within established policies, guidelines and procedures;
* is responsible for work performed with a substantial level of accountability and responsibility;
* may supervise the work of others, including work allocation, rostering and guidance;
* works either individually or in a team;
* may require comprehensive computer knowledge or be required to use a computer on a regular basis;
* possesses developed administrative skills and problem solving abilities;
* possesses well developed communication, interpersonal and/or arithmetic skills; and
* may require formal qualifications at trade or Advanced Certificate or Associate Diploma level and/or relevant skills training or experience.

Indicative tasks performed at this level are:

| **General and administrative services** | **Food services** |
| --- | --- |
| Clerical supervisor  Interpreter (qualified)  Gardener superintendent  General services supervisor | Chef /Food services supervisor |

**Aged Care Employee Direct Care Level 1:**

**Entry level:**

An employee who has less than three months’ work experience in the industry and performs basic duties.

An employee at this level:

* works within established routines, methods and procedures;
* has minimal responsibility, accountability or discretion;
* works under direct or routine supervision, either individually or in a team; and
* requires no previous experience or training.

Indicative tasks performed at this level are:

|  |
| --- |
| **Personal care** |
| No indicative task |

**Aged Care Employee Direct Care Level 2:**

An employee at this level:

* is capable of prioritising work within established routines, methods and procedures;
* is responsible for work performed with a limited level of accountability or discretion;
* works under limited supervision, either individually or in a team;
* possesses sound communication skills; and
* requires specific on-the-job training and/or relevant skills training or experience.

Indicative tasks performed at this level are:

|  |
| --- |
| **Personal care** |
| Personal care worker grade 1 |

**Aged Care Employee Direct Care Level 3:**

An employee at this level:

is capable of prioritising work within established routines, methods and procedures;

* is responsible for work performed with a medium level of accountability or discretion;
* works under limited supervision, either individually or in a team;
* possesses sound communication and/or arithmetic skills; and
* requires specific on-the-job training and/or relevant skills training or experience.

Indicative tasks performed at this level are:

|  |
| --- |
| **Personal care** |
| Personal care worker grade 2  Recreational/Lifestyle activities officer (unqualified) |

**Aged Care Employee Direct Care Level 4:**

An employee at this level:

* is capable of prioritising work within established policies, guidelines and procedures;
* is responsible for work performed with a medium level of accountability or discretion;
* works under limited supervision, either individually or in a team;
* possesses good communication, interpersonal and/or arithmetic skills;
* requires specific on-the-job training, may require formal qualifications and/or relevant skills training or experience; and
* in the case of a personal care worker, holds a relevant Certificate 3 qualification (or possesses equivalent knowledge and skills) and uses the skills and knowledge gained from that qualification in the performance of their work.

Indicative tasks performed at this level are:

|  |
| --- |
| **Personal care** |
| Personal care worker grade 3 |

**Aged Care Employee Direct Care Level 5:**

An employee at this level:

* is capable of functioning semi-autonomously, and prioritising their own work within established policies, guidelines and procedures;
* is responsible for work performed with a substantial level of accountability;
* works either individually or in a team;
* may assist with supervision of others;
* may require basic computer knowledge or be required to use a computer on a regular basis;
* possesses administrative skills and problem solving abilities;
* possesses well developed communication, interpersonal and/or arithmetic skills; and
* requires substantial on-the-job training, may require formal qualifications at trade or certificate level and/or relevant skills training or experience.

Indicative tasks performed at this level are:

|  |
| --- |
| **Personal care** |
| Personal care worker grade 4 |

**Aged Care Employee – Direct Care Level 6:**

An employee at this level:

* is capable of functioning with a high level of autonomy, and prioritising their work within established policies, guidelines and procedures;
* is responsible for work performed with a substantial level of accountability and responsibility;
* works either individually or in a team;
* may require comprehensive computer knowledge or be required to use a computer on a regular basis;
* possesses administrative skills and problem solving abilities;
* possesses well developed communication, interpersonal and/or arithmetic skills; and
* may require formal qualifications at post-trade or Advanced Certificate or Associate Diploma level and/or relevant skills training or experience.

Indicative tasks performed at this level are:

|  |
| --- |
| **Personal care** |
| No indicative task |

**Aged Care Employee – Direct Care Level 7:**

An employee at this level:

* is capable of functioning autonomously, and prioritising their work and the work of others within established policies, guidelines and procedures;
* is responsible for work performed with a substantial level of accountability and responsibility;
* may supervise the work of others, including work allocation, rostering and guidance;
* works either individually or in a team;
* may require comprehensive computer knowledge or be required to use a computer on a regular basis;
* possesses developed administrative skills and problem solving abilities;
* possesses well developed communication, interpersonal and/or arithmetic skills; and
* may require formal qualifications at trade or Advanced Certificate or Associate Diploma level and/or relevant skills training or experience.

Indicative tasks performed at this level are:

|  |
| --- |
| **Personal care** |
| Personal care worker grade 5 |

**HOME CARE EMPLOYEES**

**Home Care Employee – Level 1:**

A position in this level has the following characteristics:

A person appointed to this position will have less than 12 months’ experience in the industry.

**Accountability and extent of authority**

An employee in this level performs broad tasks involving the utilisation of a range of basic skills in the provision of domestic assistance and support and is responsible for the quality of their work.

**Judgment and decision-making**

Work activities are routine and clearly defined. The tasks to be performed may involve the use of a limited range of techniques and methods within a specified range of work. An employee may resolve minor problems that relate to immediate work tasks.

**Specialist knowledge and skills**

Indicative but not exclusive tasks include: the undertaking of semi-skilled work, including cleaning, vacuuming, dusting, washing and ironing, shopping, sweeping paths, minor maintenance jobs, preparation and cooking of meals, defrosting refrigerators, emptying and cleaning of commodes, banking and account payment, organising appointments, assistance with care of pets, and care of indoor and outdoor pot plants.

**Interpersonal skills**

Positions in this level may require basic oral communication skills and where appropriate written skills, with clients, members of the public and other employees.

**Qualifications and experience**

An employee in this level will have commenced on-the-job training which may include an induction course.

**Home Care Employee – Level 2:**

A position in this level has the following characteristics:

**Accountability and extent of authority**

An employee in this level performs broad tasks involving the utilisation of a range of developed skills in the provision of domestic assistance and support. Work performed falls within general guidelines but with scope to exercise discretion in the application of established practices and procedures. May assist others in the supervision of work of the same or lower level and is responsible for assuring the quality of work performed.

**Judgment and decision-making**

In these positions, the nature of the work is clearly defined with established procedures well understood or clearly documented. Employees in this level are called upon to use some originality in approach with solutions usually attributable to application of previously encountered procedures and practices.

**Specialist knowledge and skills**

Indicative but not exclusive tasks include: the provision of personal care, supervising daily hygiene, laying out clothes and assisting in dressing, make beds, tidy rooms, preparation and cooking of meals and assistance with meals, dry cleaning, perform gardening duties, undertake basic repairs, clean, fitting and removal of aids and appliances, monitoring medications, fitting and changing of catheters, assistance with communication, accompanying clients on outings, domestics assistance and organising appointments.

**Interpersonal skills**

Positions in this level require oral communication skills and where appropriate written skills, with clients, members of the public and other employees.

**Qualifications and experience**

As a minimum an employee in this level will have satisfactorily completed the requirements of level 1 or equivalent. Indicative but not exclusive of the qualifications required in this level include Home Care Certificate or equivalent; or relevant experience/on-the-job training commensurate with the requirements of work in this level.

**Home Care Employee – Level 3:**

A position in this level has the following characteristics:

**Accountability and extent of authority**

Employees perform work under general supervision. Employees in this level have contact with the public or other employees which involves explanations of specific procedures and practices. Employees in this level are accountable for the quality, quantity and timeliness of their own work in so far as available resources permit, and for the care of assets entrusted to them**.**

**Judgment and decision-making**

These positions require personal judgment. The nature of work is usually specialised with procedures well understood and clearly documented. The particular tasks to be performed will involve selection from a range of techniques, systems, equipment, methods or processes.

**Specialist knowledge and skills**

Indicative but not exclusive tasks include: computer and other office skills; maintain mail register and records; sort, process and record invoices and correspondence; prepare meals and special functions; provide input into meal planning; order foodstuffs and commodities; liaise with dieticians on special needs; schedule work programs on a routine and regular basis; co-ordinate and direct the work of support staff including maintenance (no more than four); oversee the provision of domestic services; provide personal care to clients with particular emphasis on those requiring extra help due to specific physical problems or frailty; schedule maintenance work programs on a routine and regular basis; plan, develop, and co-ordinate diversional therapy programs and carry out general maintenance falling within the scope of trades skills.

**Interpersonal skills**

Positions in this level require skills in oral and written communication with clients, other employees and members of the public.

**Qualifications and experience**

Indicative but not exclusive of the qualifications required in this level is an accredited qualification to the position at the level of Certificate 3 and/or knowledge and skills gained through on-the-job training commensurate with the requirements of the work in this level.

**CLERICAL & ADMINISTRATIVE EMPLOYEES**

Definition: The classification criteria in this Schedule provides guidelines to determine the appropriate classification level of persons employed pursuant to the Agreement. In determining the appropriate level, consideration must be given to both the characteristics and typical duties/skills.

The characteristics are the primary guide to classification as they indicate the level of basic knowledge, comprehension of issues, problems and procedures required and the level of supervision or accountability of the position. The totality of the characteristics must be read as a whole to obtain a clear understanding of the essential features of any particular level and the competency required.

The typical duties/skills are a non-exhaustive list of duties/skills that may be comprehended within the particular level. They are an indicative guide only and at any particular level Employees may be expected to undertake duties of any level lower than their own.

Employees at any particular level may perform/utilise one such duty/skill, or many of them, depending on the particular work allocated.

The key issue to be looked at in properly classifying an Employee is the level of competency and skill that the Employee is required to exercise in the work they perform, not the duties they perform per se. It will be noted that some typical duties/skills appear in more than one level, however when assigning a classification to an Employee this needs to be done by reference to the specific characteristics of the level. For example, whilst word processing and copy typing are first specifically mentioned at Level 2 in terms of typical duty/skill, it does not mean that as soon as an Employee operates a word processor or typewriter, they automatically become Level 2. They would achieve a Level 2 classification when they have achieved the level of skill and competency envisaged by the characteristics and the relevant indicative duty(ies)/skill(s) of a Level 2. Level 1 in this structure is to be viewed as the level at which Employees learn and gain competence in the basic clerical skills required by the Employer, which in most cases would lead to progression through the classification structure as their competency and skills increase and are utilised.

Grades: All Employees shall be graded in one of the following grades and informed accordingly in writing within 14 days of appointment to the position held by the Employee and subsequent graded positions.

An Employee shall be graded in the grade where the principal function of their employment, as determined by the Employer, is of a clerical nature and is described in this clause.

**Clerical & Administrative Employee Grade 1:**

1. The Employee may work under direct supervision with regular checking of progress.
2. An Employee at this grade applies knowledge and skills to a limited range of tasks. The choice of actions required is clear.
3. Usually work will be performed within established routines, methods and procedures that are predictable, and which may require the exercise of limited discretion.
4. Indicative tasks an Employee at this level may perform are as follows:

Information Handling: Receive and distribute incoming mail; receive and dispatch outgoing mail; collate and dispatch documents for bulk mailing; file and retrieve documents.

Communication: Receive and relay oral and written messages; complete simple forms. Enterprise: Identify key functions and personnel; apply office procedures.

Technology: Operate office equipment appropriate to the tasks to be completed; open computer file, retrieve and copy data; close files.

Organisational: Plan and organise a personal daily work routine. Team: Complete allocated tasks.

Business Financial: Record petty cash transactions; prepare banking documents; prepare business source documents.

**Clerical & Administrative Employee Grade 2:**

1. The Employee may work under routine supervision with intermittent checking.
2. An Employee at this grade applies knowledge and skills to a range of tasks. The choice of actions required is usually clear, with limited complexity in the choice.
3. Work will be performed within established routines, methods and procedures, which involve the exercise of some discretion and minor decision making.
4. Indicative tasks an Employee at this level may perform are as follows:

Information Handling: Update and modify existing organisational records; remove inactive files; copy data on to standard forms.

Communication: Respond to incoming telephone calls; make telephone calls; draft simple correspondence.

Enterprise: Provide information from own function area; re-direct inquiries and/or take appropriate follow-up action; greet visitors and attend to their needs.

Technology: Operate equipment; identify and/or rectify minor faults in equipment; edit and save information; produce a document from written text using standard format; shutdown equipment.

Organisational: Organise own work schedule; know roles and functions of other Employees.

Team: Participate in identifying tasks for a team; complete own tasks; assist others to complete tasks.

Business Financial: Reconcile invoices for payment to creditors; prepare statements for debtors; enter payment summaries into journals; post journals to the ledger.

**Clerical & Administrative Employee Grade 3:**

1. The Employee may work under limited supervision with checking related to overall progress.
2. An Employee at this grade may be responsible for the work of others and may be required to coordinate such work.
3. An Employee at this grade applies knowledge with depth in some areas and a broad range of skills. Usually work will be performed within routines, methods and procedures where some discretion and judgement are required.
4. Indicative tasks an Employee at this level may perform are as follows:

Information Handling: Prepare new files; identify and process inactive files; record documentation movements.

Communication: Respond to telephone, oral and written requests for information; draft routine correspondence; handle sensitive inquiries with tact and discretion.

Enterprise: Clarify specific needs of client/other Employees; provide information and advice; follow-up on client/Employee needs; clarify the nature of a verbal message; identify options for resolution and act accordingly.

Technology: Maintain equipment; train others in the use of office equipment; select appropriate media; establish document structure; produce documents.

Organisational: Co-ordinate own work routine with others; make and record appointments on behalf of others; make travel and accommodation bookings in line with given itinerary.

Team: Clarify tasks to achieve group goals; negotiate allocation of tasks; monitor own completion of allocated tasks.

Business Financial: Reconcile accounts to balance; prepare bank reconciliations; document and lodge takings at the bank; receive and document payment/takings; dispatch statements to debtors; follow up and record outstanding accounts; dispatch payments to creditors; maintain stock control records.

**Clerical & Administrative Employee Grade 4:**

1. The Employee may be required to work without supervision, with general guidance on progress and outcomes sought. Responsibility for the organisation of the work of others may be involved.
2. An Employee at this grade applies knowledge with depth in some areas and a broad range of skills. There is a wide range of tasks, and the range and choice of actions required will usually be complex.
3. An Employee at this grade applies competencies usually applied within routines, methods and procedures where discretion and judgement are required, for both self and others.
4. Indicative tasks an Employee at this level may perform are as follows:

Information Handling: Categorise files; ensure efficient distribution of files and records; maintain security of filing system; train others in the operation of the filing system; compile report; identify information source(s) inside and outside the organisation.

Communication: Receive and process a request for information; identify information source(s); compose report/correspondence.

Enterprise: Provide information on current service provision and resource allocation within area of responsibility; identify trends in client requirements.

Technology: Maintain storage media; devise and maintain filing system; set printer for document requirements when various setups are available; design document format; assist and train network users; shutdown network equipment.

Organisational: Manage diary on behalf of others; assist with appointment preparation and follow up for others; organise business itinerary; make meeting arrangements; record minutes of meeting; identify credit facilities; prepare content of documentation for meetings.

Team: Plan work for the team; allocate tasks to members of the team; provide training for team members.

Business Financial: Prepare financial reports; draft financial forecasts/budgets; undertake and document costing procedures.

**Clerical & Administrative Employee Grade 5:**

1. The Employee may be supervised by professional Employees and may be responsible for the planning and management of the work of others.
2. An Employee at this grade applies knowledge with substantial depth in some areas, and a range of skills, which may be varied or highly specific. The Employee may receive assistance with specific problems.
3. An Employee at this grade applies knowledge and skills independently and non- routinely. Judgement and initiative are required.
4. Indicative tasks an Employee at this level may perform are as follows:

Information Handling: Implement new/improved system; update incoming publications; circulate publications; identify information source(s) inside and outside the organisation.

Communication: Obtain data from external sources; produce reports; identify need for documents and/or research.

Enterprise: Assist with the development of options for future strategies; assist with planning to match future requirements with resource allocation.

Technology: Establish and maintain a small network; identify document requirements; determine presentation and format of document and produce it.

Organisational: Organise meetings; plan and organise conference.

Team: Draft job vacancy advertisement; assist in the selection of Employees’; plan and allocate work for the team; monitor team performance; organise training for team.

Business Financial: Administer PAYE salary records; process payment of wages and salaries; prepare payroll data.

**NURSES’ EMPLOYMENT CLASSIFICATIONS**

The following employment classifications and definitions apply to this Agreement:

**Assistant in Nursing** means a person, other than a Registered Nurse, Enrolled Nurse (with or without notation) or a Care Service Employee who is employed in nursing duties in a residential aged care facility. The Employers confirm that they shall not employ Casual Assistants in Nursing.

Whilst there are a limited number of Evergreen staff that may be classified as an Assistant in Nursing (AIN), they are still paid under rates that are applicable to this classification. These staff will continue to be paid the rates that exist for this classification outlined in Schedule B Table 1 – Rates of Pay. They will also have the opportunity to be reclassified to Care Service Employee Grade 3 providing they satisfy the competency and qualifications requirements for this classification.

**Enrolled Nurse (with Notation)** means an Enrolled Nurse registered by the Board as an Enrolled Nurse with the notation “does not hold a Board approved qualification in medicines administration”. An Enrolled Nurse with notation performs the duties and has the skills of an Enrolled Nurse, however is not authorised to administer medication.

**Enrolled Nurse (EN)** means a nurse enrolled with the Board and is authorised to administer medications. An Enrolled Nurse may be required to lead and/or supervise the work of others.

**Registered Nurse (RN)** means a person registered by the Board as such.

**Clinical Nurse Specialist** means, in residential aged care facilities where there are less than 250 beds, a registered nurse with specific post-registration qualifications and 12 months’ experience working in the clinical areas of her or his specified post-registration qualification.

**Clinical Nurse Educator** means a registered nurse with relevant post-registration certificate qualifications or experience deemed appropriate by the employer, who is required to implement and evaluate educational programmes at the residential aged care facility. The Clinical Nurse Educator shall cater for the delivery of clinical nurse education at the residential aged care facility. The Clinical Nurse Educator may also be responsible for new employee orientation at the residential aged care facility. A nurse will achieve Clinical Nurse Educator status on a personal basis by being required by the residential aged care facility to provide the educational programmes detailed above. Nothing in this clause shall affect the

role carried out by the Clinical Nurse Specialist as a specialist resource and the Clinical Nurse Consultant in the primary role of clinical consulting, researching, etc.

# SCHEDULE B – PAY RATES AND ALLOWANCES

# TABLE 1 – Rates of Pay

|  |  |
| --- | --- |
| Classification | First full pay period on or after Approval of Agreement |
| Enrolled Nurse | |
| 1st year | $37.46 |
| 2nd year | $38.42 |
| 3rd year | $39.26 |
| Thereafter | $40.21 |
| Registered Nurse | |
| 1st year | $42.60 |
| 2nd year | $45.10 |
| 3rd year | $47.85 |
| 4th year | $50.73 |
| 5th year & thereafter | $53.93 |
| Clinical Nurse Specialist | |
|  | $56.08 |
| Clinical Nurse Educator | |
|  | $56.08 |
| Care Service Employee - Direct Care | |
| Level 1 | $29.13 |
| Level 2 | $30.97 |
| Level 3 | $31.57 |
| Level 4 | $32.92 |
| Level 5 | $34.62 |
| Level 6 | $35.76 |
| Level 7 | $36.96 |
| Care Service Employee - Indirect (General) Care | |
| Level 1 | $26.23 |
| Level 2 | $27.87 |
| Level 3 | $28.42 |
| Level 4 | $29.62 |
| Level 5 | $30.20 |
| Level 6 | $31.20 |
| Level 7 | $32.01 |
| Home Care |  |
| Level 1 | $29.87 |
| Level 2 | $30.72 |
| Level 3 | $32.92 |
| Clerical and Administration |  |
| Grade 1 | $27.10 |
| Grade 2 | $28.80 |
| Grade 3 | $30.40 |
| Grade 4 | $31.90 |
| Grade 5 |  |
| Level 1.1 | $33.40 |
| Level 1.2 | $35.41 |
| Aged care - Most Senior Food Services Employees |  |
| Level 4 | $32.13 |
| Level 5 | $33.71 |
| Level 6 | $34.56 |
| Level 7 | $35.31 |

# TABLE 2 – Allowances

|  |  |  |  |
| --- | --- | --- | --- |
| **Item No.** | **Item Description** | **First full pay period on Approval of Agreement** |  |
| 1 | Vehicle Allowance - official business | $0.96 | Per Klm |
| 2 | Sleepover Allowance - Monday to Friday | $75.10 | Per Shift |
| 3 | Sleepover Allowance -  Weekends and Public Holidays | $100.40 | Per Shift |
| 4 | On Call Allowance^ | $23.70 | Per Shift |
| 5 | On Call Allowance during Meal Break | $12.90 | Per 24 Hour  Period or part thereof Mon- Fri;  Saturday;  Sunday, public holiday |
| 6 | In Charge Allowance of  residential aged care facility less than 100 beds | $26.80 | Per Meal Break |
| 7 | In Charge Allowance of  residential aged care facility 100 beds or more | $43.30 | Per Shift |
| 8 | In charge of section | $26.80 | Per Shift |
| 9 | Broken Shift Allowance | 0.5 hrs | Per Shift |
| 10 | Meal Allowance | $14.10 | Per Shift |
| 11 | Buddy Allowance (new from approval of Agreement by the FWC) | $1.00 | Per Hour |

**SIGNATORIES**

**Executed as an Agreement**

|  |  |  |
| --- | --- | --- |
| SIGNED for and on behalf of | ) |  |
| Evergreen Lifecare Ltd | ) | Signed: ..............................................  Date: ………………………… |
| Signatory name, address, and authority to sign: | ) |  |
| Name & Address: |  | Authority to sign on behalf of  Evergreen Lifecare Ltd: |
| .............................................................. |  | ………………………………… |
| ………................................................... |  |  |

|  |  |  |
| --- | --- | --- |
| SIGNED for and on behalf of the | ) |  |
| EMPLOYEES TO THIS AGREEMENT | ) | Signed: ..............................................  Date: ………………………… |
| Signatory name, address, and authority to sign: | ) |  |
| Name & Address: |  | Authority to sign on behalf  of Employees: |
| .............................................................. |  | ………….………………………… |
| ………................................................... |  | ………….………………………… |